

House of Lords House of Commons

Joint Committee on Human Rights

Legislative Scrutiny: Terrorist Asset-Freezing etc. Bill (Preliminary Report)

Third Report of Session 2010-11

Report, together with formal minutes, and written evidence

Ordered by The House of Commons to be printed 19 October 2010

Ordered by The House of Lords to be printed 19 October 2010

Joint Committee on Human Rights

The Joint Committee on Human Rights is appointed by the House of Lords and the House of Commons to consider matters relating to human rights in the United Kingdom (but excluding consideration of individual cases); proposals for remedial orders, draft remedial orders and remedial orders.

The Joint Committee has a maximum of six Members appointed by each House, of whom the quorum for any formal proceedings is two from each House.

Current membership

HOUSE OF LORDS

Lord Bowness (Conservative)
Baroness Campbell of Surbiton (Crossbench)
Lord Dubs (Labour)
Lord Lester of Herne Hill (Liberal Democrat)
Baroness Morris of Bolton (Conservative)
Lord Morris of Handsworth (Labour)

HOUSE OF COMMONS

Dr Hywel Francis MP (Labour, *Aberavon*) (Chairman)
Dr Julian Huppert MP (Liberal Democrat, *Cambridge*)
Mrs Eleanor Laing MP (Conservative, *Epping Forest*)
Mr Dominic Raab MP (Conservative, *Esher and Walton*)
Mr Richard Shepherd MP (Conservative, *Aldridge-Brownhills*)
Mr Andy Slaughter MP (Labour, *Hammersmith*)

Powers

The Committee has the power to require the submission of written evidence and documents, to examine witnesses, to meet at any time (except when Parliament is prorogued or dissolved), to adjourn from place to place, to appoint specialist advisers, and to make Reports to both Houses. The Lords Committee has power to agree with the Commons in the appointment of a Chairman.

Publications

The Reports and evidence of the Joint Committee are published by The Stationery Office by Order of the two Houses. All publications of the Committee (including press notices) are on the internet at http://www.parliament.uk/ichr

Current Staff

The current staff of the Committee is: Mike Hennessy (Commons Clerk), Rob Whiteway (Lords Clerk), Murray Hunt (Legal Adviser), Angela Patrick (Assistant Legal Adviser), James Clarke (Senior Committee Assistant), Michelle Owens (Committee Assistant), Claudia Rock (Committee Assistant), Greta Piacquadio (Committee Support Assistant), and Keith Pryke (Office Support Assistant).

Contacts

All correspondence should be addressed to The Clerk of the Joint Committee on Human Rights, Committee Office, House of Commons London SW1A 0AA. The telephone number for general inquiries is: 020 7219 2797; the Committee's email address is jchr@parliament.uk.

Contents

Report	Page
Summary	3
Bill drawn to the attention of both Houses	7
Terrorist Asset-Freezing etc. Bill	7
Background	7
The purpose of this Report	7
Evidence	8
Purpose of the Bill	8
Explanatory Notes/Human Rights Memorandum	8
Government amendments	9
Significant human rights issues	9
(1) The breadth of the power: the legal threshold for an asset-freeze	9
(2) Compatibility with the right of access to court	11
(3) Compatibility with the right to a fair hearing	12
(4) Adequacy of mechanisms for parliamentary accountability	16
(5) Comprehensiveness of the statutory framework	16
Conclusions and recommendations	18
Formal Minutes	20
List of Written Evidence	21
Written Evidence	22
List of Reports from the Committee during the current Parliament	68
List of Reports from the Committee during the last Session of Parliament	68

Summary

The Terrorist Asset-Freezing et c. Bill implements the Governm ent's intention to put the terrorist asset-freezing regime on a permanent statutory footing. It is intended to replace the Terrorist Ass et-Freezing (Tem porary Pr ovisions) A ct 20 10, which was enacted on a n emergency timetable i n Februa ry 2010 follo wing the deci sion of the Sup reme Court quashing the Orders in Council which provided the legal ba sis f or t he p revious asse tfreezing regime.

On account of the imminence of Report stage on the Bill in the House of Lords, and because of the human rights significa nce of this Bill, we decided to take the unusual step of publishing a Preliminar y Rep ort wi thout the b enefit of having seen the Gov ernment's response to questions we have recently raised with Ministers. This Preliminary Report aims to identify the most significant human rights issues which are raised by the Bill and to make provisional recommendation s about how the Bill could be rendered human rights compatible.

The breadth of the power: the legal threshold for an asset freeze

The extent to which a sset-freezes interfere with the human rights of designated persons and their famili es wa s rec ognised by the Sup reme Court in the Ahmed case. The lower the threshold for the use of the as set-freezing powers, the more in dividuals are su sceptible to interferences with their rights to property and to respect for their private, home and family life, and the easier it is for the Government to interfere with those rights.

On introduction, the Bill provided that a person c an be made the subject of an asset-freeze (be "designated" in the language of the Bill) if the Treasury has "reaso nable grounds for suspecting" that the p erson is or has been involved in terrorist activity. In Committee, however, the Government amended the Bill by ra ising the legal threshold for asset-freezing from reasonable suspicion to reasonable belief. The Bill has also been amended to give the Treasury the power to make an interim asset-freeze, on the basis of reasonable suspicion.

We be elieve the Government's amendment raising the legal threshold to reasonable belief goes some way to meeting the human rights concern about the breadth of the power and therefore welcome the raising of the legal threshold as a human rights enhancing safeguard.

We have also a sked the Government whether the shift from the language of reasonable suspicion to r easonable belief necessarily entail s a standard of proo f" on the bala nce of probabilities". If it does not, we recommend that consideration should be given to amending the Bill to i nclude an express reference to the b alance of pr obabilities as the appl icable standard of proof.

We also recommend the at consideration be given to whether the steatutory framework for asset-freezes should follow the example of the control orders framework by requirin g that consideration be given to prosecution before an asset-freeze is imposed on an individual who has not been arrested, charged or convicted of any criminal offence.

Compatibility with the right of access to court

We welcome the introduction of a full right of appeal against asset-freezes as a human rights

enhancing safeguard within the current text of the Bill. However, we recommend that the Government provide a more detailed justification of its view that prior judicial authorisation of final a sset-freezes is neither required by hum an rights law nor compatible with maintaining an effective terrorist asset-freezing regime.

Compatibility with the right to a fair hearing

The Bill provides for the use of closed materi al and special advoca tes in proceedings challenging asset-freezes, by applying the statutory provi sions and rul es of c ourt which already exist in and under the asset-freezing provisions in the Counter-Terrorism Act 2008. The compatibility of the use of closed material and special advocates with the right to a fair hearing in b oth the common law and Article 6(1) ECHR has been the subject of a lar ge number of judicial decisions, both from UK courts and the European Court of Human Rights, and is an is sue which has been considered extensively by our predecessor Committee.

The right of access to a court of full jurisdiction is only meaningful if the person who is the subject of the asset-fr eeze knows enough about the case against them to be able to give effective instructions to those representing their interests in the appeal proceedings. We therefore recommend that consideration be given to amending the legal framework to ensure that it secures the "substantial measure of procedural justice" to which the subject of an asset-freeze is entitled under both Article 6 ECHR and the common law.

We further recommend four specific ways in which the Bill could be amended to achieve this—by imposing a duty to give reasons, and a duty to prove ide sufficient information to enable effective insternations to be given; by revoking the Civil Procedure Rule which subordinates justice to non-disclosure; and by allowing for communication with special advocates after sight of closed material.

Adequacy of mechanisms for parliamentary accountability

The Bill currently contains two a dditional safeguards which are not currently in the legal framework for asset-freezing and which are designed to en hance democratic accountability for exerci se of the a sset-freezing p owers. One involves a quarterly Tre asury report to Parliament about the exercise of powers and the other requires the Treasury to appoint a person to conduct an annual independent review for the Treasury, which would then lay a report before Parliament.

We recommend that consideration be given to amending the Bill so as to give Parliament the power to appoint the proposed independent reviewer and for the reviewer to report directly to Parliament, in line with earlie recommendations concerning the statutor y reviewer of terrorism legislation.

Comprehensiveness of the statutory framework

The Bill does not contai n a comprehensive stat utory regime governin g all terrorist asset-freezes, but leaves in place a confusing patchwork of powers derived from a variety of legal sources. This both threatens to undermine the accessibility and legal certainty of these very intrusive powers and potentially deprives Parliament of the opportunity to subject all a sset-freezing powers to effective scrutiny for human rights compatibility.

We therefore recommend that the Govern ment explain why the opportunity i s not b eing taken in this Bill to provide a co mprehensive and accessible legal regime for terrorist assetfreezing which would provide Pa rliament with the opportunity fully to scrutini se those powers for human rights compatibility.

Bill drawn to the attention of both Houses

Terrorist Asset-Freezing etc. Bill

Date introduced to first House Date introduced to second House Current Bill Number

15 July 2010

HL Bill 20

Background

1.1 The Terrorist Asset-Freezing etc. Bill was introduced in the House of Lords on 15 July 2010.1 It received its Second Reading on 27 July 2 and completed its Committee stage on 6 October 2010.³ The Bill's Report Stage is scheduled for Monday 25 October 2010. Lord Sassoon, the Commercial Secretary to the Treasury, has certified that, in his view, the Bill is compatible with Convention rights.

The purpose of this Report

1.2 This Pre liminary Re port a ims to ide ntify the most significant human rights issues which are raised by the Bill and to make prov isional recommendations about how the Bill could be rendered human rights compatible. The Report is based on only a preliminary consideration of the Bill. Since we were set up in this Parliament, there has not been time to exchange correspondence with the Minister about the human rights issues in the Bill in the usu al way. We wrote to the M inister on 13 O ctober as king a nu mber of detailed questions about specific aspects of the Bill, asking for a response by 25 October.⁴

1.3 Because of the imminence of Report stage in the Lords, however, and because of the human rights significance of this Bill, we decided to take the unusual step of publishing a Preliminary Report without the benefit of h aving seen the Government's response to our questions.⁵ The human rights i ssues rai sed are for the most part i ssues on which our predecessor Committee frequently reported in its series of Reports on Counter-Terrorism Policy and Human Rights. We thought it would help to inform debate at the Bill's Report Stage if we drew to Parliament's attention the issues in the Bill which in our view raise the most significant human rights questions, made available to Parliament the submissions we have received and gave our pr eliminary view as to the sorts of amendments to the Bill which might need to be considered in order to make it compatible with human rights.

1.4 We emph asise the prelimi nary nature of this Report, and the fact that its recommendations a re i nevitably provi sional a s they hav e been a rrived at with out the benefit of the Government's response to our questions. We may publish a further Report

HL Bill 15.

² HL Deb 27 July 2010 cols 1250-1286.

³ HL Deb 6 October 2010 cols 120-174 and 190-214.

Letter from the Chair to Lord Sassoon dated 13 October 2010, Ev 6, p 64.

Cf. Ninth Report of Session 2004-05, Prevention of Terrorism Bill: Preliminary Report, HL 61/HC 389.

on the Bill, in the light of the Government's response, to inform deba te during the Bill's passage in the Commons.

Evidence

1.5 In a Press Notice indicating our legislative scrutiny priorities for 2010-11 we identified the Terrorist Asset- Freezing Bill as one of the Bills in the Coalitio n Government's Legislative Programme likely to raise signific ant human rights issu es and we invited submissions on the human rights issues raised by the Bill.⁶ In addition to parliamentary briefings from Libe rty, JUSTICE, and the Equality an d Human Rights Commission, we received a s ubmission fr om t he C ampaign A gainst C riminalising Co mmunities ("CAMPACC") and a joint submission from two solicitors with ex perience of assetfreezing litigation, Henry Miller of Birn berg Peirce & Partners, and Anne McMurdie of Public Law Solicitors. Those submissions are published with this Report. We are grateful to all those who have submitted evidence to us.

Purpose of the Bill

1.6 The Bill is intended to put the terrorist asset-freezing regime on a permanent statutory footing. It will replace the Terrorist Asset-Freezing (Tem porary Provisions) Act 2010, which was enacted on an emergency timetable in February 2010 following the decision of the Supreme Court quashing the Orders in Council which provided the legal basis for the previous asset-freezing regime.⁷

1.7 The Lords Cons titution Committee report ed on the Bill in its Se cond Report of this Session and we have taken that report into account.8

Explanatory Notes/Human Rights Memorandum

1.8 The Explanatory Notes to the Bill deal with the ECHR is sues raised by the Bill i n relatively short form at paragraphs 107-120. A more detailed human rights memorandum, however, was also submitted by the Treasury, dated 13 August 2010, setting out more fully the Government's consideration of the human rights issues in the Bill. 9 A further letter dated 4 Oc tober 2010 expl ained the rea soning behind the Government's amendments to the Bill tabled in Committee. 10 Bill team officials also made themselves available to discuss the human rights i ssues in the Bill with the Committee's staff. We are grateful to the Treasury for the proact ive way in which they have provided us with information about the human rights implications of the Bill.

⁶ Press Notice No. 2, Session 2010-11, JCHR Legislative scrutiny priorities for 2010-11 (9 September 2010).

Ahmed and others v HM Treasury [2010] UKSC 2.

⁸ House of Lords Select Committee on the Constitution, 2nd Report of Session 2010-11, Terrorist Asset-Freezing etc. Bill, HL Paper 25.

⁹ Ev 1, p 22.

¹⁰ Ev 2, p 41

Government amendments

1.9 Terrorist asset-freezing powers are not included in the Home Office review of counterterrorism and security powers announced by the Home Se cretary on 13 July 2010. 11 The Government indicated, however, that it would consider any implications that the outcome of that review has for the asset-freezing regime. 12 It was envisaged that the review would help to i nform the Gov ernment as to whether any additional sa feguards are needed in relation to the powers to freeze terrorist assets and, if so, what those safeguards should be. 13 The letter ac companying the h uman rights memorandum stated that "if it is concluded that there is a st rong case for further safeguards, it is the Treasury's intention to bring forward amendments to the Bill at Committee stage in the Lords."

1.10 Further to the commitment give n by Lord Sassoon at the e Bill's Second Reading, to consider further the civil liberties issues raised by the Bill, Government amendments were moved in Committee. We welco me the Government's willing ness to consider the human rights issues raised during debate on the Bill and the Government's amendments to the Bill designed to improve the balance between national security and human rights in the assetfreezing regime.

Significant human rights issues

(1) The breadth of the power: the legal threshold for an asset-freeze

1.11 The ex tent to which ass et-freezes in terfere with the h uman ri ghts of desig nated persons and their families was recognised by the Supreme Court in the Ahmed case.¹⁴ The Government accept that asset- freezes do have an impact on human rights, including the right to p roperty (Article 1 Protocol 1 ECHR) and the right to respect for home, priv ate and family life (Article 8 ECHR). ¹⁵ They also accept that any interference with the human rights of third parties or designated persons must be p roportionate and limited to what is strictly necessary. It is well established in the case-law of the Eu ropean Court of Human Rights that a power which can be used in a way which in terferes with human rights must be sufficiently circums cribed in its definition to safeguard against the risk of a rbitrary use. In human rights law terms, the power must not be "overbroad".

1.12 The lower the thre shold for the use of the asset-fre ezing powers, the more individuals are susceptible to interferences with their rights to property and to respect for their private, home and family life, and the easier it is for the Government to interfere with those rights. The standard of proof required also affects the degree of procedural protection which can be afforded by any right of access to court. The use of the low the reshold of "reasonable" suspicion" in the control orders framework, for example, has often been criticised as being the sour ce of mu ch of the un fairness ca used by those orders (includ ing by the special advocates in evidence to our predecessor Committee).

¹¹ HC Deb 13 July 2010 col 797.

¹² Draft terrorist asset-freezing bill: summary of responses, Cm 7888 (HM Treasury, July 2010), paras 1.7-1.9 and 3.15.

¹³ HC Deb 13 July 2010 col 797 (Home Secretary) and Terms of Reference for the Review (annexed to a letter dated 22 July 2010 from the Home Secretary to the Rt Hon Alan Johnson MP).

¹⁴ Above, n. 3, [2010] UKSC 2, at paras 38-9, 60, 192.

¹⁵ Summary of responses, above n. 7 at para. 2.3.

1.13 On introduction, the Bill provid ed that a person can be made the subject of an assetfreeze (be "designated" in the language of the Bill) if the Tr easury has "reasonable grounds for suspecting" that the person is or has been involved in terrorist activity. 16 In Committee, however, the Government amended the Bill by raising the legal threshold for asset-freezing from reasonable suspicio n to reasonable belief. ¹⁷ The Bill has also been amended to give the Trea sury the power to make an interim asset-freeze, on the basis of reasonable suspicion.¹⁸ An i nterim asset-freeze cannot last for longer than 30 days ¹⁹ and more than one interim asset-freeze cannot be made in respect of the same person in relation to the same evidence.20

1.14 The Government believe that raising the legal threshold in this way will allow the UK to mai ntain an effecti ve terrori st a sset-freezing regim e, consi stent wi th internati onal standards, while addres sing legitimate civil libert ies concerns that re asonable suspicion i s too low a threshold for freezing assets on an indefinite basis. The reason for retaining the power to freeze assets on the basis of reasonable suspicion for up to 30 days is said to be that it is operationally valuable to have the power to freeze assets in cases where there is an immediate threat b ut the position is not yet clear, for example where people have been arrested but police have not ye thad time to comple te their investigations and establish sufficient evidence to charge them with terrorist offences.

1.15 The Government's amendment raising the legal threshold to reasonable belief goes some way to meeting the human rights concern about the breadth of the power and we therefore welcome the raisin g o f th e leg al th reshold a s a human rights enhancin g safeguard.

1.16 In Committee, however, Lord Lloyd of Berwick commented that in practice there may not be quite as much difference between reasonable suspicion an d reasonable belief as is sometimes supposed.21 He argued that before a permanent asset-freeze is imposed on an individual, what is needed is neither suspicion nor belief but fact. This raises the question of whether the shift from reasonable susp icion to reasonable belief as the legal threshold means a shift to the civil stan dard of proof on "the ba lance of probabilities". We have asked the Government whether the shift from the language of reasonable suspicion to reasonable bel ief necessar ily entails a stand ard of p roof "on the balance probabilities". If not, we recommend that consideration should be given to am ending the Bill to include an express reference to the balance of probabilities as the applicable standard of proof.

1.17 The second condition of the power, concerning the necessity of an asset-freeze, is also in terms of the Trea sury's subjective consideration that very widely defined in the Bill financial restrictions are "necessary for p urposes connected with p rotecting members of the public from terrorism". 22 We r ecommend that the Go vernment should consider further li miting the bread thof the power by tightening the "necessity" condition in

¹⁶ Clause 2(1) (a) of the Bill as introduced.

¹⁷ Clause 2(1)(a) of the Bill as amended in Committee.

¹⁸ Clauses 6-8.

¹⁹ Clause 8(1).

²⁰ Clause 6(3).

²¹ HL Deb 6 October 2010 col. 123.

²² Clause 2(1)(b).

clause 2(1)(b), for example by requiring that the Treas ury must "reas onably" consider that financial restrictions are necessary "for the purpose of protecting the public from terrorism".

1.18 The United Nations Security Council Resolution 1373 (2001), to which the Bill is said by the Government to be giving effect in the UK, requires states to freeze the assets of persons "who commit, or attempt to commit, terrorist acts or participate in or facilitate the commission of terrorist acts". Lord Phillips in the Supreme Court in Ahmed observed that "the natural way of giving effect to this requirement would be by freezing the assets of those convicted of or charged with the offences in question." In our provisional view, the relationship between asset-freezes on the one ha nd and the criminal justice system on the other is not clear in the Bill. The Government has not convincingly explained, by reference to evidence, fo r example, why asset-free zes need to be available in respect of individuals who have not been convicted, charged or even arrested in relation to any terrorism offence.

1.19 We recommend that consideration be given to wheth er the statutory framework for ass et-freezes sh ould fo llow t he exam ple of t he co ntrol orders fram ework by requiring t hat co nsideration b e gi ven t o pr osecution p rior to an a sset-freeze be ing imposed on an individual who has not yet entered the criminal justice system.

(2) Compatibility with the right of access to court

1.20 As introduced, the Bill provided for any person affected by the Treasu ry's decisions under the Bill to apply to the High Court (or the Court of Session in Scotland) for the decision to be set aside. ²³ On such an application, howeve r, the court's jurisdiction was circumscribed by the Bill: in determining whether the decis ion should be set a side, the court had to apply the principles applicable on an application for judicial review.²⁴

1.21 In Committee, however, the Gov ernment amended the Bill so that challenges to both interim and final asset -freezes can be made by way of full a ppeal to the High Court or Court of Session rather than by way of judicial review.²⁵ In the Government's view, while judicial review has proved to be a robust procedure in other national se curity cases, it would be beneficial to provide explicitly for a full right of appeal, to ensure that the judicial scrutiny p rocess of a sset-freezing de cisions i s, and is seen to be, properly ro bust an d rigorous.

1.22 The significance of this amendment is that the court exercises a fuller jurisdiction on appeal than on judicial review. The amendment therefore go es some way to meeting the human rights concern about the e scope of the right of acce ss to court in the Bill as introduced. The Government itself accept that ass et-freezing orders determine civil rights and obligations within the meaning of Article 6(1) ECHR. 26 Where Article 6(1) applies, the case-law of the European Court of Human Rights makes clear that there must be access to a court with full jurisdiction.

²³ Clause 22(1) and (2).

²⁴ Clause 22(3).

²⁵ Clause 26.

²⁶ Explanatory Notes, para 117.

1.23 It is true, as the Constitution Committee pointed out in its report, that the High Court has treated its review juris diction over control orders as being tantamount to an appellate jurisdiction, because of the gravity of the impact of thos e orders on the h uman rights of those subjected to them, and it is likely that the High Court would have approached its jurisdiction over a sset-freezes in a si milar way. Neverthel ess, making this explicit on the face of the statute i s to be desired because i t leaves no r oom for misunderstanding about the sc ope of the court's juri sdiction. We we lcome the introduction of a full right of appeal against asset-freezes as a human rights enhancing safeguard.

1.24 The provision of a full right of appeal, however, falls short of requiring that ass etfreezes should be made in the first place by the courts not the Executive. In Committee, Lord Lloyd of Berwick and Lord Lester of Herne Hill queried why the Bill does not provide for prior judicial au thorisation of asse t-freezes, rather than an executive power subject to ex-post judicial control.²⁷ Lord Pannick, on the other hand, considered that the provision of a right of appeal is a strong safeg uard that "renders insubstantial the concern that the original decision is ta ken by the Executive." ²⁸ We rec ommend that the G overnment provide a more detailed justification of its view that prior judicial authorisation of final asset-freezes is neither required by human rights law nor compatible with maintaining an effective terrorist asset-freezing regime.

(3) Compatibility with the right to a fair hearing

1.25 The Bill provides for the use of closed material and special advocates in proceedings challenging asset-freezes, by applying the statutory provisions and rules of court which already exi st in and under the a sset-freezing p rovisions in the Counter-T errorism Act 2008.²⁹ Those provisions are very similar to those which apply to control order proceedings under the Prevention of Terrorism Act 2005.

1.26 The compatibility of the use of closed material and special advocates with the right to a fair hearing in both the common law and Article 6(1) ECHR has been the subject of a large number of judicial deci sions, both from UK courts and the European Court of Human Rights, and is an issue which has been considered extensively by our p redecessor Committee.30

1.27 In the case of AF,³¹ the House of Lo rds, applying the deci sion of the European Court of Human Rights in $A \nu UK$, ³² ruled that a person subject to a control order must be given sufficient inform ation ab out the all egations against him to enable him to give effective instructions in relation to the ose allegations to the lawyers representing his interests. The same principle applies to asset-freezes: in the case of Bank Mellat v HM Treasury the Court of Appeal applied the decision in AF, holding that a party whose assets are frozen "must be

²⁷ HL Deb 6 October 2010 cols 123-4 and 136.

²⁸ HL Deb 6 October 2010 col. 145.

²⁹ Clause 23(4) which applies ss. 66-68 of the Counter-Terrorism Act 2008 to applications for review of asset-freezes by the courts under clause 22 of the Bill.

³⁰ See, most recently, Sixteenth Report of Session 2009-10, Counter-Terrorism Policy and Human Rights (Seventeenth Report): Bringing Human Rights Back In, HL 86/HC 111; and Ninth Report of Session 2009-10, Counter-Terrorism Policy and Human Rights (Sixteenth Report): Annual Renewal of Control Orders Legislation 2010, HL 64/HC 395.

³¹ Secretary of State for the Home Department v AF (No. 3) [2009] UKHL 28, [2009] 3 WLR 74.

³² Application No 3455/05 (20 February 2009).

given sufficient information to enable it actually to refute, in so far as that is possible, the case made out against it."33

1.28 Our p redecessor Committee re commended a number of amendments to the legal framework governing the use of closed material and special advocates in the control order context in order to make that framework compatible with the right to a fair hearing.³⁴ The Government refused to make thoose amendments and after the decision of the House of Lords in AF argued that amendments to the legal framework were unne cessary now that the House of Lords had ruled on how the legal framework had to be interpreted in order to make it compatible.

1.29 The Government's argument was considered in our predec essor's report on the last annual renewal of the control or der regime in February 2010. 35 It heard evidence from ntinuing con cerns about the f airness of control order special advocates on their co proceedings even after the H ouse of Lords decision in AF, and in p articular a bout the approach which was being take n to disclosure of material to control ees which, in the special advocates' view, was still causing unfairness to those who were the subject of control orders. The Committee concluded that the use of secret evidence and special advocates in the control ord er regi me, as that regime is currently de signed in law and operated in practice, could not be made to operate in a way which is compa tible with the requirements of basic fairness inherent in both the common law and Article 6 ECHR.

1.30 The present Bill seeks to apply to asset-fre ezing proc eedings essentiall y the same legislative regime for the use of closed material and special advocates as applies in the control orders context. The only material difference is the inclusion of a provision that the special advocate procedure should not be a pplied where to do so wo uld be in consistent with Article 6.36 That provisi on is a weaker safeguar d than the more specific words which are required to be read into the legal framework by the House of Lords decision in AF, and even that decision, in the view of our predecessor, is not sufficient to ensure fairness in practice. The essential source of the unfairness is the absence of any express requirement that the gist of the material relied on is disclosed to the person at the outset to enable them to give effective instructions to those representing their interests.

1.31 The provision of a full right of appeal against asset-freezes does not address any of the concerns about the Bill's compa tibility with the right to a fair hearing. In Committee, Baroness Hamwee sought to address these con cerns by r emoving the sub-clause in the Bill³⁷ which provides for the use of closed material and special advocates in proceedings challenging asset-freezes. 38 Lord P annick sough t the Gov ernment's a ssurance that it accepts that the principles enunciated by the House of Lords in the case of AF in the context of control orders apply equally in the context of asset-freezes—in other words, that

^{33 [2010]} EWCA Civ 483.

³⁴ See e.g. Ninth Report of 2007-08, Counter-Terrorism Policy and Human Rights (Eighth Report): Counter-Terrorism Bill, HL 50/HC 199 at paras 39-73.

³⁵ Ninth Report of 2009-10, Counter-Terrorism Policy and Human Rights (Sixteenth Report): Annual Renewal of Control Orders Legislation 2010, HL 64/HC 395.

³⁶ Section 67(6) of the Counter-Terrorism Act 2008, applied by clause 23(4) of the Bill.

³⁷ Now clause 28(4) (formerly clause 23(4)).

³⁸ HL Deb 6 October 2010 col 200.

fairness requires that the individ ual concerned has a right to see at least the essence of the material that is relied on in the case against him.³⁹

1.32 The Government resisted both attempts to ensure that the Bill is compatible with the right to a fair hearing. ⁴⁰ Th ey arg ued that the special advocate procedure is necessary because without it the amount of procedural protection for the person who is the subject of the asset-freeze will be reduced. They also refused to provide the assurance sought by Lord Pannick on the basis that the Government does not necessarily accept the "read-across" of the decision in AF from the control orders con text to the ass et-freeze contex t.⁴¹ The Government argue that the Bill's provision for the use of special advocates and closed material are fair because:

- The starting point is that the individual is given as much info rmation as possible about the grounds of the order, so far as consistent with the legitimate interests of national security;
- The Bill requires the maker of the rules of court to have regard both to the need for a prop er rev iew of the decision that is subject to chall enge and to the need to ensure that disclosure s a re not m ade where to do so would be contrary to the public interest, such as for reasons of national security.
- The special advocate system and the disclosure procedure are designed to ensure procedural justice for in dividuals by ensuring that the maximum amount of material that can b e di sclosed to the individ ual without damagi ng the public interest should be disclosed.

1.33 The Government al so plan to c onsult on a Green Pap er on the u se of sens itive information in judicial pr oceedings, to be publi shed "next year", and argue that there will be an opportunity to rais e these concerns about the fairness of a sset-freeze proceedings during that consultation. They argue that there is not sufficient time for the results of this review to be taken into account in this Bill, because of the need for it to have completed its passage by 31 December this year when the current temporary provisions will lapse.

1.34 As explained above, our predecessor Committee reported a number of concerns about the unfairness caused by the current legal regime governing the use of closed material and special advocates. The right of access to a court of full jurisdiction is only meaningful if the person who is the subject of the asset freeze knows enough about the case against them to be able to give effective inst ructions to those representing the eir interests in the appeal proceedings. As the recent decision of the European Court of Justice in the case of Kadi demonstrates, the right to effective judicial control is intima tely connected to the rights of the defence: unl ess the person who is the subject of the a sset-freeze has a proper opportunity to a newer the case against them and to put their case, they are deprived of their right to effective judicial protection.⁴²

³⁹ HL Deb 6 October 2010 col 201.

⁴⁰ HL Deb 6 October 2010 cols 202-205 (The Advocate-General for Scotland, Lord Wallace of Tankerness).

⁴¹ HL Deb 6 October 2010 col 151.

⁴² Case T-85/09, Yassin Abdullah Kadi v European Commission (30 September 2010) at paras 171-181 especially: "... given the lack of any proper access to the information and evidence used against him and having regard to the relationship ... between the rights of the defence and the right to effective judicial review, the applicant has been

1.35 We recommend that consideration be given to ame nding the legal frame work to ensure that it secures the "s ubstantial me asure of p rocedural justice" to which the subject of an ass et-freeze is entitled under both Articl e 6 ECHR and the common law. In particular we recommend that consideration be given to amending the Bill in four specific ways.

(1) A duty to give reasons

1.36 The Bill could be amended to impose a duty on the Treasury to include a statement of reasons in its written notice of designation, which would help to make the new right of appeal an effec tive remedy. The Bill could say that the written notice to the designated person un der claus e 3(1) of the Bill s hould contain as full as possibl e an explanation, consistent with the interests of national security, of why the Trea sury consider that the conditions for an asset-freeze are satisfied.

(2) A duty to provide sufficient information to enable effective instructions to be given

1.37 The Bill could be amended so as to give statutory effect in the asset-freezing context to the principle established by the European Court of Human Rights in A v UK, and applied by the House of Lords in AF (No. 3), the Court of Appeal in Bank Mellat and the European Court of Justice in *Kadi*, that the person affected by a preventive measure such as a control order or an asset-freeze must be given sufficient information about the allegations against him to enable him to give effective instructions in relation to those allegations.

1.38 This could be done by amending the relevant provision of the Counter-Terrorism Act 2008 so a s to require rules of court to sec ure that the court's otherwise absolute duty of non-disclosure in asset-freeze proceedings⁴³ is expressly qualified by the duty to ensure sufficient disclosure to protect the right to a fair hearing.

(3) Revoking the subordination of justice to non-disclosure

1.39 The Bill could be amended to reinstate the supremacy of th e right to a fair hearing over the duty not to disclose information in the public interest. This could be done by ivil Procedure Rules. Rule 79(revoking rule 79.2 of the C 2) expressly elevates nondisclosure over justice by requiring that in control order cases the "overriding objective" of the civil procedure rules (requiring courts to deal with cases justly) be read and given effect in a way which is comp atible with the duty to ensure tha tinformation is not disclosed contrary to the public interest. Baroness Hale expressly disagree d with the equivalent provision in the control orders context in her judgment in a 2007 control orders case in the House of Lords, MB.44

unable to defend his rights with regard to that evidence in satisfactory conditions before the Community judicature, with the result that it must be held that his right to effective judicial review has also been infringed".

⁴³ s. 67(3)(c) of the Counter-Terrorism Act 2008.

⁴⁴ Secretary of State for the Home Dept., ex p. MB [2007] UKHL 46 at para 59 (Baroness Hale).

(4) Communication with special advocates after sight of closed material

1.40 The Bill could be amended so as to ensure that special advocates are able to apply to a High Court Judge, without notice to the Treasury, for permission to communicate with the person who is the subject of an asset-freeze after the service of the closed material.

(4) Adequacy of mechanisms for parliamentary accountability

1.41 A court considering the proportionality of any statutory regime for interfering with human rights will have regard to all of the sa feguards against arbitrary or disproportionate use of the powers, including those which are concerned more with political than legal accountability.45

1.42 The Bill contains two additional safeguards which ar e not currently in the legal framework for asset-freezing and which are designed to enhance democratic accountability for exercise of the a sset-freezing powers. First, there is a requirement that the Treasury report quarterly to Parliament about the exercise of the powers. 46 Second, the Treasury is required to a ppoint a person to conduct an annual "independe nt review" of the operation of the a sset-freezing regime, reporting to the e Trea sury which lages the report before Parliament.47

1.43 Safeguards which enhance democratic accountability for the exercise of counterterrorism p owers a re c learly to be welc omed from a human rights perspective. Our predecessor made a nu mber of detailed recommendations for improving such sa feguards, including that the post of statutory reviewer of terrorism legislation should be appointed by Parliament and report direcetly to Parli ament, on the gerounds that a reviewer with a supporting sec retariat withinn Gov ernment might suffer from a perceived lack of independence from the Government.48

1.44 We recommend that consideration be given to am ending the Bills o as to give Parliament the power to appoint the propos ed independent review er and for the reviewer to report directly to Parliam ent, in line with earlier recommendations concerning the statutory reviewer of terrorism legislation.⁴⁹

(5) Comprehensiveness of the statutory framework

1.45 The Bill does not cont ain a comprehensive statutory regime gove rning all terrorist asset-freezes, but leaves in place a confusing patchwork of powers derived from a variety of legal sources. As the House of Lords Constitution Committee commented in its report on the Bill, this both undermines the accessibility and legal certai nty of these very intrusive

⁴⁵ See e.g. Gillan and Quinton v UK, Application no. 4158/05, para. 84 (considering the extent to which the Independent Reviewer provides an additional safeguard against the arbitrary use of widely drafted counterterrorism powers to stop and search).

⁴⁶ Clause 24.

⁴⁷ Clause 25.

⁴⁸ See e.g. Sixteenth Report of Session 2009-10, Counter-Terrorism Policy and Human Rights (Seventeenth Report): Bringing Human Rights Back In, HL 86/HC 111, chapter 6.

⁴⁹ Bringing Human Rights Back In (above), paras 116-7 and Twentieth Report of Session 2007-08, Counter-Terrorism Policy and Human Rights (Tenth Report): Counter-Terrorism Bill. HL 108/HC 5549 at paras 13-20.

powers and deprives Par liament of the opportunity to sub ject all asset-freezing powers to effective scrutiny for human rights compatibility.⁵⁰

1.46 This is particularly unfortunate in view of the strong criticisms of the Supreme Court on that score. Lord Ma nce, for example, expressed hi s "concern about the dev elopment and continuation over the ye ars of a patchwor k of overlapping a nti-terrorism me asures, some receiving parliamentary scrutiny, others simply the result of executive action" and thought it desirable that the regimes governed by the Orders in Council in issue in that case "should be debated in Parliament alongside the primary legislation which Parliament did enact."51

1.47 We recommend that the Government explain why the opportunity is not be ing taken in this Bill to p rovide a comprehensive and access ible legal regime for terrorist asset-freezing and therefore to provide Parliament with the opportunity to s crutinise those pow ers for hum an rights compatibility, the lack of which so troubled the Supreme Court.

⁵⁰ House of Lords Select Committee on the Constitution, 2nd Report of Session 2010-11, Terrorist Asset-Freezing etc. Bill, HL Paper 25, paras 10-18

^{51 [2010]} UKSC 2, above n. 3, at paras 220 and 223.

Conclusions and recommendations

Significant human rights issues

(1) The breadth of power: the legal threshold for an asset freeze

- The Government's amendment raising the legal thresh old to reasonable belief goes some way to meeting the human rights concern about the breadth of the power and we therefore welcome the raising of the legal threshold as a huma n rights enhancing safeguard. (Paragraph 1.15)
- 2. We have a sked the Government whether the shift from the language of reasonable suspicion to reasonable belief necessarily entails a standard of proof "on the balance of probabilities". If not, we recommen d that consideration should be given to amending the Bill to include an express reference to the balance of probabilities as the applicable standard of proof. (Paragraph 1.16)
- 3. We recommend that the Government should consider further lim iting the breadth of the power by tightening the "necessity" condition in clause 2(1)(b), for example by requiring that the Treasury must "reasonably" consider that financial restrictions are necessary "for the purpose of protecting the public from terrorism". (Paragraph 1.17)
- We recommend that consideration be given to whether the stat utory framework for 4. asset-freezes should follow the example of the control orders framework by requiring that consideration be given to prosecution prior to an asset-freeze being imposed on an individual who has not yet entered the criminal justice system. (Paragraph 1.19)

(2) Compatibility with the right of access to court

- 5. We well come the introduction of a full I right of appeal against a sset-freezes as a human rights enhancing safeguard. (Paragraph 1.23)
- We recommen d that the Govern ment provide a more detailed jus tification of its 6. view that prior judicial authoris ation of final ass et-freezes is neither required by human rig hts l aw nor compa tible with mai ntaining an effective terr orist as setfreezing regime. (Paragraph 1.24)

(3) Compatibility with the right to a fair hearing

7. We recommend that conside ration be given to amending the legal framework to ensure that it secures the "substantial measure of proc edural justice" to which the subject of an asset-freeze is entitled under both Article 6 ECHR and the common law. (Paragraph 1.35)

(4) Adequacy of the mechanism for parliamentary accountability

We recommend that conside ration be given to amending the Bill so as to give 8. Parliament the power to appoint the proposed independent reviewer and for the reviewer to rep ort di rectly to Parliament, in line wi th ear lier recommen dations concerning the statutory reviewer of terrorism legislation. (Paragraph 1.44)

(5) Comprehensiveness of the statutory framework

9. We rec ommend that the Gov ernment explain why the op portunity is not being taken in this Bill to provide a comprehensive and accessible legal regime for terrorist asset-freezing and therefore to provide Parliament with the opportunity to scrutinise those powers for human rights compatibility, the lack of which so troubled the Supreme Court. (Paragraph 1.47)

Formal Minutes

Tuesday 19 October 2010

Members present:

Dr Hywel Francis, in the Chair

Lord Bowness Dr Julian Huppert Lord Dubs Mr Dominic Raab Lord Lester of Herne Hill Mr Richard Shepherd

Baroness Morris of Bolton

Draft Rep ort, Legislative Scrutiny: Terro rist Asset-Freezing etc. Bill (Preliminary Report), pr oposed by the Chairman, brought up and read

Ordered, That the draft Report be read a second time, paragraph by paragraph.

Paragraphs 1.1 to 1.47 read and agreed to.

Summary read and agreed to.

Resolved, That the Report be the Second Report of the Committee to each House.

Ordered, That the Chairm an make the Report to the Ho use of Commons and that Lord Les ter make the Report to the House of Lords.

Written evidence was ordered to be reported to the House for printing with the Report.

[Adjourned till Tuesday 26 October at 2.00 pm

List of Written Evidence

1	Memorandum from HM Treasury, to the Committee, 10 August 2010	p 22
2	Letter from Lord Sassoon, Commercial Secretary, HM Treasury, to the Committe Chair, 4 October 2010	e p 41
3	Written Evidence from the Campaign Against Criminalising Communities (CAMPACC), to the Committee, 8 October 2010	p 42
4	Written Evidence from Mr Henry Miller, Birnberg Peirce & Partners, and Anne McMurdie, Public Law Solicitors, to the Committee, 12 October 2010	p 45
5	Written Evidence from the Equality and Human Rights Commission, to the Committee, 12 October 2010	p 54
6	Letter from the Committee Chair, to Lord Sassoon, Commercial Secretary, HM Treasury, 13 October 2010	p 64

Written Evidence

1. Memorandum from HM Treasury, to the Committee, 10 August 2010

Terrorist Asset-Freezing etc. Bill

Introduction

- 1. Asset freezing is an internationally used, and recognised, tool to prevent and disrupt the financing of terrorism. Taking steps to disrupt the financial flows of money is essential to preventing or dis rupting ter rorist acts. Some of the most devastating terrorist attacks, including those in London in 2005, cost less than £10,000 to c arry out. About £150,000 is currently frozen in the U K under the existing terrorist asset freezing regime. Freezing money intended for terrorist purposes can help to prevent individual attacks. Focussing on the movement of money can help detect when it is being used for wider terrorist networks, a crucial element in many inve stigations, and helps the Gov ernment to maintain effective relationships with i nternational counter-terr orism partners. No other coun ter-terrorist measure can fully meet the UK's international obligations in this area.
- 2. The Terrorist Asset- Freezing etc. Bill ("the Bill") had it s First Reading in the House of its S econd R eading o n 27 July. A t S econd Re ading t he Lords on 15 July 2010, and Commercial Sec retary to the Trea sury, Lord Sassoon, noted that the Home Office are conducting a review of counter-terrorism tools, which is likely to consider the i ssue of the appropriate safeguards in th Minister stated that where the review's is field. The conclusions are relevant to asset freezing these will be taken into account and consideration be given to bringing forward amendments at Committee stage in the House of Lords.

Background

- 3. The Bill is intended to pr ovide a permanent framework in primary le gislation for terrorist a sset-freezing following the judgm ent of the S upreme Court in Ahmed & Ors v HM Tre asury¹. In this judgment the Court quas hed the Terrori sm (United Na tions Terrorism Order 2006") an d the Al-Qaida and Taliban Measures) Order 2006 ("the (United Nations Measures) Order 2006 ("the AQ Order"), on the ground that they were ultra vires the scope of section 1 of the United Nations Act 1946. The Bill will replace the Terrorist Asset-Freezing (Temporary Provisions) Act 2010, which expires on 31 December 2010.
- 4. The Terrori sm Ord er 2006 and the AQ Order were made by the Trea sury to impose financial sanctions on perso ns and thereby to me et obligations unde r United Nations Security Council Resolutions ("UNSCRs"). Both Orders were made under section 1 of the United Nations Act 1946, whic h provided a power to make su ch Orders in Council as appear "necessary or exp edient for enab ling [certain United Nations Security Council resolutions] to be effectively applied".

- 5. The Terrori sm Order 2006 was made for the purpose of implementing UNSCR 1373 which decided that all States shall:
 - (c) Fr eeze w ithout de lay fund s a nd oth er fi nancial a ssets o r eco nomic r esources of persons who commit, or attempt to commit, terrorist acts or participate in or facilitate the commission of terrorist acts...;
 - (d) Prohibit their nationals or any perso ns and entities within their territories from making any funds, financial assets or economic resources or financial or other related services av ailable, dir ectly or in directly, for the benefit of pe rsons who commit or attempt to commit or facilitate or participate in the commission of terrorist acts, of entities owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such persons and of persons and entities acting on behalf of or at the direction of such persons;
- 6. The Terrorism Order 2006 gave the Treasury a power to freeze the funds of persons who the Tr easury have r easonable grounds to su spect are p ersons who c ommit, a ttempt to commit, participate in or facilitate the commission of acts of terrorism.
- 7. The AQ Order implemented UNSCR 1267, which requires states to fr eeze the funds of Usama Bin Laden, members of the Al-Qaida and the Taliban as refe rred to in a list set out by a UN Committee set up under UNSCR 1267.
- 8. Before the Sup reme Court i t was claimed by the Appellants that the Terrori sm Order 2006 and the AQ Ord er were incompatible with the Human Rights Act 1998. Sev eral Supreme Court ju dges des cribed the s evere effect of a nasset freeze a s it then op erated under the Terrorism Order 2006 and the AQ Order both on the designated person and on members of the designated person's family. The Supreme Court, however, decided the case on vires grounds and did not rule on ECHR ground s of challenge in respect of the Terrorism Order 2006. The majority of the Court did not expres s an opinion on ECHR issues (see for example Lord Hope—with whom Lord Walker and Lady Hale agreed—at paragraph 62). Of those who did comment, Lord Brown concluded "I am unimpressed by der is ch allenged, th ose of certai nty and the alternative grounds on which the Or proportionality. Primary legis lation introducing this same asset-fr eezing regime could not have been declared incompatible on those grounds" (paragraph 201), and Lord Mance (with whom Lord Phil lips agreed) st ated "I agree wi th the Cour t of A ppeal's reasoning and conclusion that the relevant provisions of articles 7 and 8 were and are sufficiently certain to be valid" (paragraph 234) and "I am at present also unpersua ded that the content of the Orders could be challenged on grounds of lack of proportionality, although I need ex press no final view about this" (paragraph 235).
- 9. In respect of the AQ Order, the absence of a right of appeal against inclusion in the UN list would have resulted in the quashing of the Order on the basis that it breached the ECHR. However, the Treasury was able to rely upon the decision in *Quark Fishing*² that no breach of a Convention right can be maintained under section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 unless the Convention right is one for which the United Kingdom would be answerable in Strasbourg, and the decision in Al-Jedda³ that the effect of Article 103 of the UN Charter is that obligation s under the UN Charter prevail over obligations under all

R (Quark Fishing Ltd) v Secretary of State for Foreign and Commonwealth Affairs [2006] 1 AC 529.

Al-Jedda v Secretary of State for Defence [2008] 1 AC 332.

other international ag reements, including human r ights treaties such as the ECHR. The Supreme Court accepted that, as a consequence of Al-Jedda, Convention rights fell into the category of obligations under an international agreement over which obligations under the UN Charter must prevail. Again, therefore, the Supreme Court found the AQ Order to be unlawful on vires grounds, rather than on any breach of the ECHR. Regulations have now been made un der section 2(2) of the Eu ropean Communities Act 1972 to im plement a European Union Reg ulation refl ecting UNS CR 1267 ⁴ and the Bill ther efore does not contain any measures specifically in respect of Al Qaida.

- 10. The Treasury did not rely in the Ahmed case upon Quark Fishing or Al-Jedda in relation to the Terrorism Order 2006. The Treasury considered that while the AQ Order implemented a very specific UN measure (asset freezes in relation to persons named by the UN), the Terrorism Order 2006 (which requires states to freeze the assets of persons who commit or attempt to commit terrorist acts) was not such a specific measure and therefore Al-Jedda would not apply.
- 11. S ubsequent to the S upreme Court ruli ng, Parli ament enacted the Terrori st Asset-Freezing (Temporary Provisions) Act 2010 which deems the T errorism Order 2006 and the Terrorism (United Nations Measures) Order 2009 ("the 2009 Order") (which was not before the Court but which was vulnerable to being quashed on the same vires grounds) to have been validly made under sect ion 1 of the United Nation's Act 1946 and for decisions made under them to have legal effect for the period from 10 February 2010 to 31 December 2010.
- 12. The 2009 Order was not the subject of the challenge before the Supreme Court. The Court noted, however, that the 2009 Order ameliorated to some degree the on erous effect of the Terrori sm Order 2006 regime on spouses and other third parties who interact with the designated person. These changes in the 2009 Order include:
- a) the addition of a requirement for designation (in addition to there being a reasonable suspicion of involvement in terrorism) that it is necessary for purposes connected with public protection;
- b) limiting a designation to one year (unless renewed);
- c) changing the prohibition in relation to providing the designated person with economic resources to add a defence that the person providing the resources did not know and had no reason to suspect that the designated person would use the resources to obtain funds;
- d) changing the prohibitions on making funds or eco nomic resources available for the benefit of d esignated persons so that they only apply if the designated person h imself receives a significant financial benefit as a result of the funds or economic resources being made available to some other person (e.g the payment of a designated person's rent directly to his landlord by a third party).

- 13. The Bill will make legis lative provision to provide the Treasury with similar powers in broad terms to those in the 20 09 Order. A number of further changes are made in the Bill, the most significant being:
- a) redrawing of t he pr ohibitions on deali ng with the designated p erson's f unds or economic resources so that the off ence is only committed if the pers on knows or has reasonable c ause to suspect tha t the funds or economic resour ces a re those of a designated person (i.e. reversing the burden of proof so that knowledge is an ingredient of the offence rather than lack of knowledge being a defence);
- b) similar red rawing of the other offences so that knowledge is part of the offenc e (including for the offence of providing economic resources to a designated person a requirement that the provider knows or suspects that the designated person will use the resources to obtain funds or goods);
- c) provision to make it c lear that the payment of social security bene fits to persons other than the designated person is not caught by the prohibition on making funds available for the benefit of a designated person;
- d) a re quirement fo r th e Trea sury to make a quart erly report to P arliament on the operation of the asset-freezing powers in the Bill;
- e) the appointment of an independent reviewer of the operation of the asset-freezing part of the Bill who is to make an annual report which will be laid before Parliament.
- 14. The Treasury launched a consultation on the draft Bill on 18 March 2010. There were sixteen respondents, including JUSTICE and legal academics at the Univ ersities of Leeds, Glasgow, Oxford and Durham. Several of those responding commented on human rights issues, in particular the use of the 'reasonable suspicion test' (see furth er paragraphs 34-37 below) most notably Justice. A summary of responses was published by the Treasury on 15 July 2010.
- 15. The following aspects of the terrorist asset-freezing regime are relevant for the purposes of this memorandum:

Part 1—Chapter 1—Designated Persons

- 16. Clause 2 gives the Tr easury the p ower to designa te a person (a) if the Treasury have reasonable grounds to suspect that the person is or has been involved in terrorist activity, and (b) it is necessar y for public protection to impose the restrictions. The first condition is a redrawing of the provision from the power summarised in paragraph 6 above. For the 2009 Order the Treasury relied upon past and current act ivity when deciding whether there is reasonable suspicion that a person is a person who commits or attempts to commit or facilitates acts of te rrorism. The amended first condition sets this out and brings it into line with other counter-terrorism powers. The Treasury believe that this clarifies but does not ma terially change the first requirement; the second requirement which must also be met—necessity for public protection—has not been amended.
- 17. Under clause 4 a d esignation remains in force for a year (unless revoked) and may be renewed more than once. Clause 3 provides that a designation will be publicised generally

by the Trea sury unless the designated person is under 18 or the e Treasury consider disclosure should be restricted on one of a number of other grounds.

Chapter 2—Prohibitions

18. Clause 7 makes i t an offence to deal with funds or economic resources if the person dealing knows or susp ects that the fund s are owned, held or controll ed by a designated person. Cl auses 8 a nd 10 c ontain similar p rohibitions against ma king funds, financial services and economic resources available to a designated person. Clauses 9 and 11 contain prohibitions against making funds, financial services and economic resources available to any p erson for the benefit of a desig nated p erson. Claus e 14 has a s eparate of fence of circumventing any of the prohibitions set out in cla uses 7 to 11. Clause 13 states that the prohibitions in Part 2 will not apply to anythi ng done under the au thority of a licence granted by the Treasury.

Chapter 3—Information

19. Clause 15 imposes o bligations on financial institutions to report to the Treasury if they are aware that a person is designated or has committed an offence, and if a designated person is a cust omer there is an obliga tion to provide inform ation on the funds or resources that the institution holds for the designated person. Clause 16 provides that the Treasury may seek information from the designated person and from persons acting under a licence granted under clause 13. Clause 16 also allows the Treasury to seek information from any person in the United Kingdom. Failure to comply with a request for information is a criminal offence under clause 18.

Chapter 4— Supplementary Provisions

20. Clause 22 p rovides that a ny person affected by a dec ision made by the Treasury may apply to have int set as ide. The clause also applies provisions in, or inserted in other legislation by, the Counter-Te rrorism Act 2008 which were originally enacted to make provision for the use of 'clo sed' evidence and the appointm ent of special advocates in relation to challeng es to deci sions mad e under the Terrori sm Order 2006 a nd other financial sanctions Orders.

Part 2—Terrorist Financing, Money Laundering etc

- 21. Part 2 of the Bill contains minor amendments to Schedule 7 to the Counter-Terrorism Act 2008. Schedule 7 giv es the Treasury power to give directions to the financial sector imposing a range of r equirements or re strictions on the eir transactions or business relationships with a 'des ignated person'. A des ignated person is the government of, or a person resident or incorporated or carrying on business in, a country of money laundering, terrorist financing or proliferation concern.
- 22. The powers under Sched ule 7 were used for the first time in Oc tober 2009 in the Financial Res trictions (Iran) Order 2009 5, to require the c essation of business with two Iranian entities, on the basis that activity in Iran which facilitates the development or

production of nuclear wea pons po ses a ri sk t o th e na tional i nterests of the UK. In exercising the powers, the Trea sury have identified some amendments to ensure the powers are as effective as possible.

- 23. The proposed provisions will amend Schedule 7 as follows:
 - Amendment of the definition of 'credit institution' and 'financial institution' to clarify the position in respect of the applicability of directions to branches of such institutions [clause 42];
 - Extension of the categories of persons who may be a 'designated person' so that a subsidiary company of a person falling within one of the existing categories may also be designated [clause 43];
 - The addition of an offence of circumventing the requirements of a direction [clause 44];
 - Changing the supervi sory a rrangements for credit unions in Northern Ireland from the D epartment for E nterprise Tr ade and In vestment to the Fin ancial Services Authority [clause 45].

ECHR issues

- 24. The provisions of Part 1 of the Bill give rise to a number of ECHR issues which are dealt with in turn. In ea ch clause where E CHR issues are engaged the Trea sury have bala need the effects on individuals against the public interest purpose behind the clauses.
- 25. The proposed amendments to the Counter-Terrorism Act 2008 in Part 2 of the Bill do not raise additional human rights issues beyond those al ready arising from Sc hedule 7 to the Counter-Terrorism Act 2008. The effect of the amendments is to in crease the number of persons who may be required to comply with the requirements of a direction, or against whom restrictions may be imposed, and whose rights may potentially be affected

Protocol 1, Article 1 (protection of property)

Part 1 provisions

- 26. Article 1 of the First Protocol ("A1/P1") provides that every person (natural or legal) is entitled to the p eaceful enjoyment of his possessions and that no one shall be deprived of their possessions except in the public interest and subject to the conditions provided for by law and by the general principles of international law.
- 27. The practical effect of a dir ection designating a person is that the person's funds and economic res ources ar e f rozen. Further pr ovisions pr ohibit m aking funds, economic resources or financial se rvices available to or fo r the benefit of a designated person. These provisions can include restrictions on the enjoyment of the property of oth ers (although this is more limited than the Treasury had previously considered it to be, primarily because of the effect of the M, A & MM judgment discussed below).

28. The prohibitions on the designated person impose either a deprivation of property or at least a control of the use of their property⁶. The general a pproach to a nalysing whether interference is justified is to consider whether (i) the interference is lawful (i.e. the relevant law is sufficiently accessible and certain), (ii) the interference pursues a legitimate aim which is in the general interest, and (iii) a fair ba lance has been struck between the public interest and interests of the property owner.

Basis for designations

- 29. The prohibitions are imposed on persons whom the Treasury have reasonable grounds for suspecting are or have been involved in terrorist activity. The Treasury believe that the interference meets the test of pursuing a legitimate aim which is in the public interest on the basis that the provisions serve the purpose of disrupting persons reasonably suspected of involvement in terrorist activity from financing such activity, whether in the UK or abroad. The measures are preventative and have been seen to have a positive disruptive effect on the activity of suspected terrorists.
- 30. The provisions permit a designation to be made only if it is considered necessary for the ncial restrictions to that person. The purposes of public protection to apply the fina Treasury believe that this makes clear the need for the direction to meet the general interest requirement.
- 31. Decisions to make freezes a re kept under review and last a year. A fur ther decision to freeze may only be made if the criteria in clause 2 remains atisfied, and will involve a consideration of the necessity for the continuation of the freeze against the cumulative effect of the freeze.
- 32. The European Court of Human Rights stated in the Bosphorus⁷ case (which concerned the effect of sa nctions a gainst Y ugoslavia on a third party) that i n considering the fair balance test "the Court recognises that the State enjoys a wide margin of appreciation with regard to the m eans to be employed and to the question of whether the consequence are justified in the gene ral interest for the purpose of ach ieving the objective pursued". This principle was relied upon recent ly b y th e Hi gh Court i n th e Bank Mellat case 8 wh en considering a challenge to an Order made under Schedule 7 to the Counter-Terrorism Act 2008 directing all persons operating in the UK financial sector not to enter into or continue to participate in any transactio n or business relationship with Bank Mellat and a named Iranian shipping line.
- 33. The fair bal ance requirement involves consideration of the effect on both the designated p erson and t hird p arties (principally m embers of the designated p erson's household). Restrictions can only be impo sed where the Trea sury has a rea sonable suspicion that a person is or has been in volved in ter rorist activity and the Treasur y consider it is nece ssary for public protection that financial re strictions should be applied.

It is the Treasury's view that the provisions fall within a control of use of property. There is no expropriation of property; provided that a licence is obtained the person remains able to sell or otherwise dispose of property. The Treasury refer also to the decision in Sporrong and Lonnroth v Sweden (1982) 5 EHRR 35, which considered the issue of de facto deprivation of property and concluded that planning restrictions which had the effect of reducing the possibility of selling a property amounted to an interference rather than a deprivation for the purposes of A1P1.

Case of Bosphorus Hava Yollari Turizm ve Ticaret Anonim Sirketi v Ireland (application No. 45036/98) [2006] EHRR 1.

Bank Mellat v Her Majesty's Treasury [2010] EWHC 1332 (QB).

The Treasury has the power to i ssue licences to permit the desi gnated person to deal with his funds and economic resour ces, and to permit third parties to provide funds and economic resources to the designated person.

- 34. The use of a 'reasonable suspicion' threshold has been criticised as being too low a threshold to be prop ortionate. Suggestions have been made that a 'r easonable belief' test would be more appropriate.
- 35. The Treasury believe that the 'reasonable suspicion' test is justifiable. There a re cases where freezes have been made on persons at an early stage of a police investigation into a major terrorist plot wher e the available evidenc e at the time would not support a higher threshold, but the disrup tive effect of the freezes has subsequently been shown to be significant. One example of this is the decision on 11 August 2006 to freeze the assets of 19 of the 24 persons arrested by the police the previous day in relation to Operation OVE RT (the plot to detonate explos ives on transatlantic airliners). In this case the majority of persons frozen were subsequently charged and then convicted of terrorist offences. Nin e persons convicted of terrorist offences and serving sentences in prison are still subject to asset freezes. Two persons convicted and who have served their sentences, and all those not convicted of an offence, have had their freeze s revoked. The ability to make a freeze pre-emptively, often in tandem or shortly afte r police arrests (which are also made on a 'reasonable suspicion' basis), has been valuable in responding to an emerging terrori st threat.
- 36. F reezes have al so been mad e on the e basis of intelligence material, where the information available cannot easily be tested or demonstrated to a higher threshold but the threat is nevertheless immediate.
- 37. Some members of the Sup reme Court, while they ruled that 'reasonable suspicion' was not unavoidably necessary for giving effect to UNSC R 1373, accepted t hat such a test may be expedient for the purpose of giving effect to it. Lord Ho pe (with whom Lord Walker and Lady Hale ag reed) at par agraph 58 stated that 'reaso nable suspicion' may have been expedient b ut that such a judgm ent should have been left to Par liament. Lord Rodger (with whom Lady Hale agreed) at paragraph 201 stated that 'reasonable suspicion' could have been used for a short time under section 1 of the United Nations Act 1946, but that it should have been replaced as soon as practicable by primary legislation. In addition Lord Rodger t ouched upo n the particular difficulties invo lved in the use of national security material at paragraph 173 when he stated—

It seems to me that the expe diency of the United Kingdom adopting that test really depends on a whole range of practical matters with which the members of this Court are largely unfamiliar. Inevi tably, much of the info rmation about terrorist activities that is available to nat ional authorities will come from other countries and, often, in the form of intelligence provided by overseas security services. In the case of the United Kingdom, the Treasury – and i ndeed the British security services – may well be in no position to make an independent assessment of the material. Similarly, it may well be that, in a significant number of cases, because of its variable quality and fragmentary nature, the available information does not permit the Treasury to go further than to say that they have reason able grounds for suspecting that the person concerned is committing or facilitating terrorist acts. If so, then it may be better to base designation

on reasonable grounds for suspicion rather than on some higher standard which could not be readily achieved and which, if applied faithfully, would mean that the Treasury failed to freeze a si gnificant number of asse ts which were actually under the control of people who committed etc terrorist acts

Provision of licences

38. The Treasury issu es licences immediately on designation to ensu re that designated persons' access to living expe nses and to legal ser vices are not interr upted. Treasury licensing decisions are informed by a terrorist financing risk assessment, from the security and intelligence agencies and police, and an analysis of the human rights impacts. This enables the Treasury to apply the regime in a proportionate way, ensuring that the Treasury grant licences where it can be done without giving rise to terrorist finance risks, including through the use of app ropriate licence conditions. The Treasury has also issued a number of general lic ences which apply to all persons subject to an asset freeze. These include general licences for legal aid payments to solici tors representi ng d esignated persons, and for the provision of insuranc e policies for de signated persons. General licences enhance the proportionality and efficiency of the regime by removing the need to apply for individual licences in these areas.

39. A designated person may request a change to their licence terms, or new licences, at any time. The Trea sury reviews a ny such requests, taking into ac count any terrorist financing risks and the requirement to ensure that the regime is applied proportionately in each case. The designated person has an explicit right to challenge a decision to grant a licence (including the terms of a licence) or refuse a request for a licence.

State benefits

40. Historically, the Treasury considered that benefits paid to the household of a designated person ("household benefits") were caught by the relevant prohibitions, in particular EC Regulation 881/2002 which implements the UN Al-Qaida and Taliban obligation. Article 2(1)(b) of that Regulation states:

No funds, other financial assets or economic resources shall be made available directly or indirectly, to or for the benefit of, a [designated person]

Similar wording is in the EC Regul ation⁹ in rel ation to terrori sm, en forcement of which was provided by the Terrorism Orders 2006 and 2009 and will be provided by this Bill.

41. Accordingly, the Treasury was of the view that the payment of state benefits to spouses or partners of a designated person living in the same household would fall within the prohibition and therefore could only be made under the authority of a licence. It was also the Treasury's policy ordinarily to require that the recipient of the benefits accounted for the expenditure of the fund s. This interpretation was challenged in court proceedings brought by three spouses of designated persons. The House of Lord's referred this point to the European Court of Justice.

- 42. The European Court of Justice (ECJ) in case C-340/08 M rul ed on 29 April 2010 that economic or fi nancial re sources are only made available for the benefit of a designated person where as a result the de signated person would gain ac cess to economic or financial resources of a kind that they could use to support ter rorist activities. Household benefits paid to the spouse or partner of a designated person, which are carefully calibrated to the needs of the household, did not fall within the scope of funds that are made available for the benefit of a designated person for the purposes of the EC Regulation. The ECJ further freezing econ omic r esources had to be und erstood as commented that the measure applying only to assets that can be turned into funds, goods or resources capable of being used to support terrorist activities.
- 43. In light of the ECJ case and in view of the Government's commitment to ensuring that the asset freezing regime is fair and proportionate without weakening controls on terrorist finance, the Government has made it clear in the Bill that the payments of state benefits to the spouses or p artners of d esignated persons are not intended to be caught by the a sset freezing regime. This significantly ameliorates the previous impact of the prohibitions on the A1P1 rights of the families of designated persons.
- 44. The direct making available of funds to a designated person, whether by a family member or any other person, is not affected by the ruling of the ECJ and will still be caught by the prohibitions un less the payment is lic ensed. Similarly, wh ere a family me mber knows or suspects that the provision of economic resources to a designated person would be likely to result in the resourc es being used to ob tain funds, goods or services capable of being used to support terrorist activities, then provision of the resources would need to be licensed by the Treasury. Wher e funds, or economic resources, are not being given to the designated person directly, but are being made available for the designated person's benefit, a licence is only required if the designated person is receiving a significant financial benefit as a result. The Treasury can provide guidance in any particular case as to whether or not a licence is required. The Treasury believe that this more limited inte rference with third parties' property rights, coupled with the proc edural safeguards, en sure that a fair b alance test is met. The Treasury accepts that the inclusion of such conditions raises Article 8 issues, which are discussed below.
- 45. A1P 1 also requires that any interference with possession s is subject to the conditions provided for by law and the general principles of international law. As discussed above, the Treasury believe that the cla uses enabling the in terference to take pl ace are clear and foreseeable and that there are safeguards to prevent the unfair use of the power.
- 46. The r eference to general principles of international law is understood to be only applicable where property rights of non-UK nationals are affected ¹⁰. International law protects non- nationals agains t ar bitrary expropr iation of pr operty and pr ovides f or compensation to be payable. The prohibitions which lead to a possible A1P1 interference could apply to any person in the UK, whether or not a UK national. However, n on-UK nationals will be in the same position as UK nationals in terms of being able to request licences and access to the Court. The provisions do not therefore appear to offend against general international law.

47. Taking into account the po werful public interest in combating terrorism, the ability to ameliorate the prohibitions through the grant of licences and the procedural safeguards in the Bill, the Treasury believe that the fair balance test is met in respect of interference with property rights.

Part 2 provisions

- 48. The Treasury do not believe that a requirement to apply enhanced due diligence or ongoing monitoring, or to report on transactions, is likely to constitute an infringement of the right to peaceful enjoyment of possessions. However, it is considered that any direction limiting or requiring the cessation of a person's business or transactions with persons in a third country would, prima facie, constitute an interference with the peaceful enjoyment of possessions and thus engage Article 1 of Protocol 1.
- 49. As stated, Article 1 of Protocol 1 is a qualified right, and may be interfered with by way of c ontrols on the use of property where this is in the general interest. Article 1 also requires that any depr ivation of possessions be subject to the con ditions provided for by law. In this respect the ere will be a clear basis, in primar y legislation, for the use of the power, the consequent prohibitions are clear, and section 63 of the Counter-Terrorism Act 2008 provides a means of challenging the use of the power.
- 50. To the extent that a rest riction may constitute a control or depri vation of property, such interference will be just ified in the public inte rest. Restrictions can only be impose d where the Financial Action Task Force ("FATF") has decided that a country's anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist financing controls are sufficiently de ficient that countermeasures should be impo sed, where the Treasury reasonably believe that there is a risk of money la undering a nd te rrorist fi nancing acti vity in a co untry and t hat th is p oses a significant r isk to the nation al in terest of the United Ki ngdom, or where the Trea sury reasonably believe that the development or production of nuclear, radiological, biological or chemical weapons in the country poses a significant risk to the national interests of the United Kingdom. Schedule 7 provides that the requirements imposed by a direction must be proportionate having regard to FATF advice, or the risk to the na tional interests of the UK. The interference with the individual's right has to be balanced against the potential for damaging consequences if such activity is not disrupted.
- 51. Schedule 7 provides for a taggeted use of the power: restrictions may be imposed on a particular person, persons falling within a described category, or all persons in the specified sector in the UK or im posed in respect of a particular person, a category of persons, or all persons in the target country. The Treasury also has scope to tailor the requirements of a direction to the ri sks in a spec ific case – for example by imposing restrictions only in relation to certain types of business.
- 52. Pa ragraph 9 giv es the Treasury power to g rant lic ences to exemp t acts from the provisions of a di rection requiring the limiting or cessation of bu siness, so as to disapply the prohibitions to the extent app ropriate to each case. This enables the Treasury to adjust the effect of the financial restrictions to reflect the risks in a particular case and to take into account the particular circums tances and legitimat e need s of persons sub ject to the directions.

- 53. Persons affected by a direction have a right to apply to the court for a review of a direction, and directions expire after a year.
- 54. The Treasury's powers conferred by Schedule 7 were challenged by Bank Mellat in the case referred to at paragraph 32. The chall enge was on b oth procedural grounds (that the Treasury was obliged by domestic law and the requirements of A1 P1 and Article 6(1) ECHR to give the Bank the chance to make representations before making an Order), and substantive grounds (eit her because the statutor y conditions for a di rection were not met or because the direction was incompatible with the bank's rights under A1P1).
- 55. In resp ect of the substantive grounds, the issue of lawfulness turned primarily on whether the requirem ents imposed by the Ord er were proportionate having regard to the nature of the risk posed to the national interest of the UK. The Judge a greed with the Treasury's conclusion (that the ri sk of v ery great harm to the UK's vital national i nterest justified the imposition of a severe inhibition on the busine ss of the Bank) and dismissed this ground and the challenge. The Bank has been granted leave to appeal in relation to this judgment.
- 56. In the Treasury's view, the provisions in the Sche dule as amen ded by the Bill strike an appropriate balance b etween the requirements of the general or pu blic interest, and the requirements of the protection of the individual's rights and are compatible with Article 1 of Protocol 1.

Article 8 (respect for privacy and family life)

Part 1 provisions

- 57. The clauses include a number of provisions which interfere with a person's right to respect for private and family life. Any interference by a public authority must be justified as being in accordance with the law and necessary in a democratic society in the interests of national security, pu blic safety or the economic wellbeing of the country, for th prevention of disorder or cr ime, for the pr otection of h ealth or m orals, or for the protection of the rights and freedoms of others.
- 58. The collection of personal information is an interference with the right to respect for private life. The di sclosure of information—such as the fact of a direction—by a public body will also involve an interference with the right to respect for private life.
- 59. Any interference must be in accordance with the law. The Treasury believe that the provisions in the claus es providing for the interferences discusse d below are clear and foreseeable. The clauses includ e clear rights to challenge decisions involving interferences and the Treasury be elieve that these provisions offer a dequate and effective safeguards against arbitrary interference.

Notifications

60. The first interference is the public notification of a deci sion to d esignate a person in clause 3 which obliges the Treasu ry to take steps to publicise a designation unless one of a

number of conditions is met. This engages the Article 8 rights of the designated person and arguably also the Article 8 rights of members of the household.

- 61. The Treasury believe that such notification is necessary to give full effect to the financial restrictions which flow from a designation being made. This is particularly the case in ensuring that financial institutions are aware of a d esignation and can promptly take steps to identify any assets co ntrolled by the designat ed person and to ensure that the ass ets are person (exc ept und er th e a uthority of a li cence). W ide not made available to that publication of the di rection offers the best opportunity of ensuring that the prohibitions are n ot broken. G iven the threshold for making a designation—reasonable grounds to in terrorist activity and consideration t hat the direction is suspect an involvement necessary for purposes of pu blic protection—the Treasury beli eve that the interference is proportionate to the ob jectives of public protec tion and national secu rity at which it i s aimed. EC asset freezes, under Regulations 881/2002 (AQ) and 2580/2001 (terrorism) are published in the Official Journal and included in the Regulations.
- 62. Clause 3 provides for th e publicising of designations to be restgricted where the designated person is under 18, or where the Treasury consider that disclosure should be restricted in the i nterests of justice or na tional security or for reasons connected with the prevention or detection of serious crime. The Terrorism Order 2006 included provision for the Treasury either to publicise a direction generally or to restrict publicising it to those it considered appropriate, but did not set out the gr ounds for a 'restrict ed' designation. These grounds were included in the 2009 Ord er as it was felt helpful to set out the factors considered by the Treasury when deciding whether a designation should be publicised generally. The general publicising of a designation has not been specifically considered by the Court. It has however indirectly been considered by the Supreme Court in a separate judgment in the Ahmed¹¹ case. In this case the Treasury decided that it should not generally publicise the designations of three persons for reasons of national security, but instead alerted financial institutions and notified a number of these persons' associates. The three persons challenged the directions and were granted anonymity orders. These orders were organisations in the Sup reme Court, which considered written challenged by media statements on the possible public safety consequences of publicly identifying these persons as the appellants and as subject to designations.
- 63. The Supreme Court set asid e the anonymity orders. It noted that the evidence which had been put forward as to the possible effect which being named in the court case could have on M's article 8 rights was "very general and, for th at reason, not particularly compelling". The Court had lifted the anonymity order in relation to G (Mr Al Ghab ra) and noted the "apparent lack of reaction" to his being publicly named.

Licensing and reporting

64. As described above, the Treasury has power to license actions which would otherwise contravene one of the prohibitio ns in Part 1. This would cover for example a designated person dealing with their funds, as well as the provision by a third party of funds or (in certain circumstances) economic resources to a designated person, or for their benefit. As set out abov e, the Trea sury a ccepts that the payment of state benef its to the s pouse or

partner of a des ignated person does not br each the prohibitions, and so no licence is required. The licensing of access to funds, fi nancial services and economic resources is a key tool to ensure tha t ass et freezes are ap plied proporti onately. Lic ences may i nclude conditions such as a requirement for information to be provided to account for the use of the funds licensed, in order to ensure tha t funds are not being diverte d fo r te rrorist purposes. Clau se 16(4) gives the Tr easury a specific p ower to re quest information concerning funds or economic resources dealt with or made available under a licence.

- 65. The nature and detail of the reporting required will be assessed on a case by case basis, taking into account the risk as sessment of the police and security and intelligence agencies. Reporting requirements may require the d esignated person to provide a d etailed account of the expenditure of the su ms licensed, including relevant documentation such as bank account statements and receipts for expenditure.
- 66. Licence conditions such as reporting requirements are necessary to ensure that the Treasury is able to monitor a designated person's compliance with the licence terms, and that the purpose of the asset freeze is not being undermined.
- 67. The Treasury will of course be bound by the princip le that a public body should not disclose confidential information unless there is a press ing need for disclosure for public safety Accordingly, information received in complia nce with licence co nditions (or i n compliance with c lause 15 or requests mad e under the powers in clause 16 d iscussed below) will only be disclosed to other agencies wheere necessary for the is purpose. In addition, clause 19 gives the Tr easury a general power to disclose inform ation to specific persons or for specific purposes. Both the list of persons and the 'purposes' are tightly drawn.

Information gathering

- 68. Chapter 3 of Part 1 of the Bill includes a number of powers to obtain information. The requirement to provide inform ation p ursuant to a request made und provisions may engage Article 8. Provisions in clause 16(1) and (2) permit the Treasury to request the designated person to provide details of all fund s or economic resources they hold or to provide information about expenditure by or on their be half or for their benefit. The acquisition of information about a designated person's funds and economic resources is necessary to ensure that the fina ncial restrictions are given full effect, for example by ensuring that all those who hold funds for the designated person are aware of the direction. The power to request details of expenditure can be nec essary to ensure compliance with the prohibitions and is expressly stated to be only exercisable where the Treasury believe it is necessary for monitoring compliance with or detecting evasion of the Bill.
- 69. Cla use 16(5) provides a broad power to request any person in the UK to provide information reasonably required for monitoring compliance with or detecting evasion of the Bill and establishing the funds and economic resources owned by or provided to a designated person. There are clear public safety issues in ensuring compliance with the Bill and in identifying the assets of the designated person.
- 70. Cla use 15 p rovides that financial institutions must provide cert ain fi nancial information if during the cours e of bus iness they kn ow or suspect that a p erson is a

designated person or has committed an offence. Where they identify that a designated person is a cus tomer, the institution mus t tell the Treasury what fun ds they hold for the designated person. The Trea sury has a website which provides details of designations and financial institutions subscribing to the notification facility on the web automatically be inf ormed of a ny de signations. T his inf ormation is inva luable in identifying the financial assets of a designated person so as to ensure that the designation is as effective as possible. The Treasury have not included a provision from earlier Terrorism Orders which required institutions to a scertain whether a designated person has been a customer of the institution in the previous five years.

71. The Treasury consid er that the requi rements to provid e information discussed above will be in accordance with the law, as the powers to require disclosure of information are set out in primary legislatio n a nd are for mulated to enable a person to fores ee the circumstances i n whi ch the power can be ex ercised. The powers are all targed eted at ensuring the effectiveness of a designation and with compliance with the Bill and are necessary to meet these two objectives. The interference is proportionate given the public safety rea sons for ob taining the i nformation, and because the po wers are limited to information required for these reasons.

72. A discrete Article 8 issue also arises un der clause 23(2) of the Bill, which applies the provision in the Counter-Terrorism Act 2008 which dis applies the prohibition on the use of intercept material in evidence in respect of 'a sset freezing decisions' as defined by that Act, to permit such material to be used in challenges to decisions under the Bill. The requirement for any interference to be in accordance with the law is satisfied by vir tue of the provisions being set out in primary legislation. The aim of the provisions enabling the use of intercept evidence is to enhance the robustness of the asset-freezing regime. There is a clear public safety need, given the preventative purposes of designations, that requires the Treasury to be able to use all available evidence in order to explain and support the decisions made.

Part 2 provisions

73. Information provided in accordance with a requirement for systematic reporting under paragraph 6 of Schedule 7 to the Counter-Terrorism Act 2008 may engage the right to respect for private life. In additi on, appli cants for licenc es granting exempti ons from a direction limiting or ceasing business will be required to pr ovide some personal information, and details of the transactions or business relationships for which exemption is requested, which may engage the right.

74. To the extent that there is any interference with the right to respect for private life, the Treasury consider that such inte rference will be in accordance with the law, and necessary in a democratic society in the interests of national security, pu blic safety or the economic well-being of the country, or for the prevention of disorder or crime (the justification will depend to some extent on the basis for giving a direction under Schedule 7).

(1) The power to give directions is accessible as a measure in primary legislation and is formulated with sufficient precision to enable a person to foresee the circumstances exercised. As set out abov e, th e am endments will in which the power can be

include a provi sion all owing a person af fected by a directi on to challenge the direction.

(2) A direction can only be give n either where the FATF has decided that a country's anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist financing controls are sufficiently deficient that counter-measures should be imposed, where the Treasury reasonably believe that there is a risk of money la undering and terrorist financing activity in a country and that this poses a significant risk to the national interest of the United Kingdom, or where the Trea sury reasonably believe that the development or production of nuclear, ra diological, biological or chemic al weapons in the count ry poses a significant risk to the national interests of the United Kingdom. Schedule 7 provides that the requirements imposed by a direction must be proportionate having regard to FATF advice, or the risk to the national interests of the UK. Any interference with a pers on's r ight has to be b alanced against the potentiall y damaging consequences of al lowing the terrori st financing, money launderi ng or weapons proliferation activities to continue. Re quiring the systematic reporting of transactions or business re lationships with p ersons in the country concerned will provide a source of in telligence and informat ion about those act ivities., enabling targeted efforts to disrupt them. Requiring information from applicants for licences helps to ensure the at ex emptions from the prohibitions are on ly granted in appropriate circumstances.

75. The limited circumstances in which a direction may be given, coupled with the expiry of a direction after one year and provision for challenge before the courts, mean that the powers in Schedule 7 are proportionate to the thr eat they are intended to coun ter. The Treasury consider that, given the circumstances in which a direction would be made, outlined in paragraph 1 of Sched ule 7, the Treasury would in i ssuing a direction be pursuing a legitimate aim.

76. Accordingly, in the Treasury's view, the Sc hedule as amended by the Bill is compatible with Article 8.

Article 6—Right to a fair trial

Part 1 provisions

77. Article 6(1) entitl es an individual to a fair and public hear ing in the dete rmination of his civil rights or obligations or any criminal charge against him. In the context of whether preventative actions which imposed severe restrictions on private life were criminal or civil, the House of Lords, considering the more draconian provisions of control orders, held that such orders were not criminal proceedings under article 612. The Treasury believe that the provisions in this Bill are civil rather than criminal for the purposes of article 6. A designation made und er clause 2 is li kely to be a deci sion which impacts upon civil rights and obligations (notably the inte rference with rights to free enjoyment of property). Whilst not expressly set out a s a qualified right, the courts, both domestically and in Strasbourg, have acknowledged some need for qualification. Challenges to decisions under

the Bill would not consti tute criminal hear ings and therefore the express minimum standards in Article 6(3) do not apply.

78. The nature of the rig ht to challenge as set out in clause 22, which requires the Court to apply the principles applicable on an application for judicial review, have been criticised as insufficient. However, clause 23 states that the provisions of sections 6 6 to 68 of the Counter-Terrorism Act 2008 apply to such proc eedings. P rovision is made for rules o f court (now provided for in Part 79 of the CP R), including for disclosure, witness evidence and the appointment of special advocates which set up a fra mework similar to those of control orders. The Court has demonstrated in a national security context that it has taken a robust view of the examination of decision-making in a national security context (see, for example, the decision of the Court of Appeal in Secretary of State for the Home Department ν MB¹³). It is anticipated that a Court will adopt this flexible approach and apply a rigorous standard of scrutiny in all cases where it considers this appropriate.

79. The issue of the compatibility of the use of closed material and special advocates with Article 6(1) has been considered a numb er of ti mes in the UK and in Strasbourg. The leading UK case remains Secretary of State for the Home Department v MB14 in which the majority view accepted that in cases involving special advocates "it is quite possible for the court to provide the controlled pe rson with a sufficient measur e of procedural protection even though the whole evidential basis for the basic allegation, which has been explained to him, is not disclosed".

80. The use of special advocates was considered further by the House of Lords in Secretary of State for the Home D epartment v AF (No 3) 15 following the deci sion of the Grand Chamber of the European Court of Human Rig hts at Strasbourg in A v United Kingdom 16 in the context of the indefinite detention of terrorist suspects. In AF the House referred to the Grand Chamber's decision that those individuals had to be given sufficient information about the allegations against the m to be able to give effective instructions to the special advocate in respect of them, a nd a pplying that judgment in the context of the control orders before it in the AF case, found that "provided that requirement was satisfied, there could be a fair trial no twithstanding that he was not provided with the detail or sources of the evidence forming the basis of the allegations" (para 59).

81. The application of AF was considered by the Court of Appeal in an appeal relating to disclosure in the Bank Mellat¹⁷ case. The Court of Appeal accepted that where it is said that the contents of potentially relevant documents in the possession of one party should not be disclosed to the other party, a balance has to be made between the rights of the latter party in the litigation and the wider interest, but that there are "irreducible minimum rights which article 6(1) ... requires to be a ccorded to any party involved in litigation to which the article applies" (parag raph 20) and that " the r equirements of a rticle 6(1) are such that the information to be provided by the Treasury must not merely be sufficient to enable the Bank

¹³ Secretary of State for the Home Department v MB [2006] EWCA Civ 1140.The Treasury note that this decision predates the Strasbourg decision in A referred to below, anddo not suggest that the reasoning in MB would be directly applicable. The point is that the Court has in the past adopted rigorous approaches in national security cases and can be anticipated to do so again.

^{14 [2007]} UKHL 46.

^{15 [2009]} UKHL 28.

^{16 (}Application No 3455/05), ruling 20 February 2009.

¹⁷ Bank Mellat v Her Majesty's Treasury [2010] EWCA Civ 483.

to deny what was said against it. The Bank must be given sufficient information to enable it actually to refute, in so far as that is possible, the case made against it." (paragraph 21). In this case disclosure was made to the satisfaction of the Court and the matter proceeded to a substantive judgment.

Part 2 provisions

- 82. Mr Justice Mitting ruled in the Bank Mellat case that a dispute arose for the purposes of Article 6(1) only when an Order under Schedule 7 to the Counter Terrorism Act 2008 was made; alternatively that the procedure for determining the Bank's Article 6(1) rights was 'hybrid' and involv ed an exec utive deci sion affirmed by Parliament and sub ject to challenge before a Court. The Judge held that the procedure under Part 79 of the Civil Procedure Rules was ad equate to giv e effect to the Bank's Article 6(1) rights and that if exceptionally the impact of an Order was such as to cause i rreparable damage to the Bank unless its challenge to the Order was determined more quickly than the procedure in Part 79 permitted, it could apply fo r judicial review, which was n ot excluded because of the mere presence of Part 79.
- 83. Persons affec ted by a dir ection under Sc hedule 7 may ch allenge the direc tion in the High Court in accordance wi this ection 63 of the Counter-Terrorism Act 2008. The principles and procedure to which such a challenge are subject are considered above in paragraphs 78 to 81.
- 84. Cla use 44 i ntroduces a new p rohibition on circ umventing the requirements of a direction, and provides for the imposition by supervisory authorities of civil penalties for breaches of this prohibition. This is subject to a right of appeal to an independent tribunal, thus satisfying the requirements of Article 6.
- 85. The Treasury therefore be lieve that the provisions in the Bill are compatible with Article 6.

Article 7—No punishment without law—Part 1 provisions

- 86. A number of submissions were made in the Ahmed case that provisions in the Terrorism Order 2006 were n ot sufficiently certain. A lthough these we re not specifically identified as encroaching on ECHR Article 7, the principle that an offence must be clearly defined in law is enshrined in Article 7. The provisions identified by the appellants as not being sufficiently certain concerned the phrases "acting on behalf of or at the direction of", "make available" and "for the benefit of".
- 87. The majority of the Supreme Court did not comment on this issue, but the three judges who did concluded that the term s of the prohibitions were sufficiently certain. When drafting legislative provisions of general application it is inevitable that the words used will be capable of giving rise to "difficult" cases. However, the Strasbou rg case law does not suggest that this is sufficient to render the provision void for uncertainty¹⁸. The Trea sury believe that the provisions are sufficiently certain and that there is no breach of Article 7. In addition, the Trea sury believe that some of the criticism s levelled at the 2006 Order would not apply to the revised provisions in the 2009 Order and the Bill.

Article 5—Right to liberty—Part 1 provisions

88. It has been sugges ted that the Bill engages Article 5 ECHR if the designated person (or their family) is in practice unable to leave a cert ain area due to the designation. Asset freezing is not intended to control the movement of designated persons, only their access to and use of funds. There will be restrictions on the use by the design ated person of their funds, but the restrictions are a meliorated by licences. The Treasury would not ord inarily refuse a licence that involved the expenditure of the designated person's funds to allow him and/or his family to travel. The Trea sury do not believe that an y temporary restrictions would amount to a deprivation of liberty.

Article 14—Discrimination—Part 1 provisions

89. It has also been suggested that the pro visions may engage Article 14 in conjunction with Article 8 on the basis of discrimination on grounds of rel igion, or indirect discrimination on grounds of nationality or race.

90. The European Court of Hu man Rights has held that a difference of treatment is discriminatory if it has no objective and re asonable justification; in other words, if it does not pursue a legitimate aim or if there is not a reasonable relationship of proportionality between the means employed and the aim sought to be realised. The State enjoys a margin of a ppreciation in assessing wheth er and to what extent differences in otherwise similar situations justi fy a di fferent trea tment19. The Trea sury consi der that i f Article 14 is engaged, any difference in trea tment will be objective ly and reason ably justified given the overall p urpose of the schem e and the th reshold requirements b efore the Trea sury can exercise their powers under the scheme.

10 August 2010

2. Letter from Lord Sassoon, Commercial Secretary, HM Treasury, to the **Committee Chair, 4 October 2010**

Government Amendments to the Terrorist Asset-Freezing Etc. Bill

At second reading in the Lord s, I committed to consider f urther the civil libe rties issue s raised by the Terrorist Asse t-Freezing etc. Bill. Over the su mmer, Treasury officials have consulted widely with other Whitehall Departments and with civil liberties organisations. Based on these consultations, on the concerns expressed by a number of learned Lords during the second reading de bate and on points raised by respondents to the public consultation on the Bill, I have decided to bring forward amendments to:

- Raise the legal test for asset freezi ng from reasonable suspicion to reasonable belief, retaining reasonable suspicion only for a maximum initial period of 30 days; and
- Strengthen the challenge to Treasury designation decisi ons from judicial review to appeal procedure.

I set ou t my reas ons for these amendments below. However, I should like to draw your attention to the fact that, while the Government has tabled a large number of amendments for consideration at Committee, the majority are consequential to these two significant amendments. For your ease of reference, once the Marshalled List has been released I will deposit a note in th e Library that groups the amendments betw een those that are significant and those that are consequential.

I will also be tabling additional amend ments today. These ma ke consequential amendments to Northern I reland court rules similar to amendments already tabled for court rules in England and Wales. They also give the Lord Chancellor ap ower to make initial court rules for Northern Irel and in rel ation to appeals, which is similar to the provision for England and Wales that I tabled on 1 October.

Raising the legal test

The substantive Government amendment to Clause 2 raises the legal test for a sset freezing from reasonable suspicion to reasonable belief (ret aining reasonable suspicion only for a maximum of 30 days).

I believe that raising the lega lthreshold in this way will allow the UK to maintain an effective terrori st a sset freezi ng regi me, c onsistent wi th i nternational standards, while addressing what I consider to be the legitimate civil liberties concerns that reasonable suspicion is too low a threshold for freezing assets on an indefinite basis.

The reason for retaining suspicion for a maximum 30-day period is to allow freezes to be imposed in cases where there is an immediate threat but the position is not clear, for example where people have been arrested and there is an operational need to freeze assets but the police have not yet had sufficient time to complete their investigations and establish sufficient ev idence to c harge them for terrori st offenc es. Th e 2 006 Op eration Ove rt transatlantic plane bom b plot i s a good exa mple of wher e bein g able to fr eeze assets alongside arrests proved operationally valuable.

The role of the Courts

Under Clauses 22 and 23, I propose amending the Bill so that challenges to a sset freezing designations can be heard by the courts on the basis of an appeal procedure, rather than the judicial review procedure.

While judicial review has proved to be a robust procedure in other national security cases, I believe that moving to an ap peal procedure for d ecisions to impose, vary or re new asset freezes would be benefici al in ensuring that the judicial sc rutiny process of asset freezing decisions is, and is seen to be, properly robust and rigorous.

Combined, I believe that thes e a mendments will improve the balance between national security and civil liberties in the asset freezing regim e. They are justifi able in their own terms and I hope you will welcome them.

I am placing a copy of this letter in the Library.

4 October 2010

3. Written Evidence from the Campaign Against Criminalising Communities (CAMPACC), to the Committee, 8 October 2010

Submission to the Joint Committee for Human Rights on the Terrorist Asset-Freezing etc. Bill

1. CAMPACC: who we are

The Campaign Against Criminalising Communities (CAMPACC) was formed in March 2001 in response to the bann ing of 21 org anisations under the powers of proscription contained in section 3 of the Terrorism Act 2000. CAMPACC seeks to highlight the effect of 'anti-terrorism' legislation in intimidating and criminalis ing communities, rather than protecting the public. The C ampaign has brough t together individuals and groups from communities which find themselves targeted by anti-terro rism legislation, lawyers, other human rights activists and in creasingly members of the pu blic who are concerned about the civil liberties implications of the 'war on terror'. From those experiences, we have highlighted the human consequences and political roles of 'ant i-terror' powers. Previously we sent the JCHR a deta iled critique of the Control Order regime; this was in cluded as Annex 4 in your February 2006 report, Counter-Terrorism Policy and Human Rights.

We welcome the opport unity to provide the Committee wighth this short submission and would be pleased to appear before the Committee to provide further evidence if required. It is our view that the question of whether it is appropriate to continue with the freezing regime should be referred to the Counter Terrorism Review. The current complex system of overlapping laws in relation to fi nancing (such as those contained in the Terrorism Act 2000; the Anti-Terrorism, Crime and Security Act 2001) should rightly be considered as a whole in order to determine their necessity and their impact on human rights.

2. Findings of Ahmed and Others v HM Treasury

We urge the Committee to give due consideration to the reasoning of the majority decision in the case of Ahmed. The Supreme Court found the orders made regarding the freezing of terr orist assets violated basic fundamental rights and freedoms—without the authority of Parliament.

In summary, it is our submission that the current Bill simply embeds significant violations of human rights, including:

The right to a fair trial The right to freedom of movement The right to privacy and family life The right to the protection of property

These violations amount to punishment without trial.

3. Low threshold for application

The Government's am endments to the Bill require only t hat there be 'rea sonable grounds for suspecting' that a person has been involved in terrorism to impose an interim 30 day order. A fi nal order must then only be made by Treasury on the basis of a reasonable belief that the person has been involved in terrorism. The Supreme Court pointed out that the UN requires member states to freeze the funds only of those who 'commit or attempt to commit' acts of terrorism. The Bill therefore goes cons iderably beyond the policy intention of the UN.

HM Trea sury have argued that the tests of 'r easonable su spicion' and 'reasonable belief' are necessary to give effect to the preventative policy aim of the legislation. We submit that a more proportionate preventa tive aim may be ac hieved by judicial, rather than exec utive sanctions, against those who have been found by a court to have committed or attempted acts of terrorism.

Further, the legislation would not specifically target terrorist financing because the special powers do not require that a person be reasonably suspected of terrorist financing before they are designated.

The th reshold of 'reasonable belief is not a n app ropriate sub stitute for sc rutinising evidence through the courts. This Bill will subject people who have not been charged with any offence to extra-judicial pu nishment inconsistent with a liberal democracy. The preemptive paradigm as ex pressed in this Bill is incompatible with the rule of law, human rights and procedural fairness standards.

4. The right to a fair trial

The Bill entrenches the current system of secret evidenc e, closed hearings and special advocates, whom the Attorney General appoints to act on behal f of the affected person. Yet the requirement of non-disc losure to the affected person of the critical evidence on

which the freezing or der was made, en trenches secret intellige nce whose validity and relevance cannot be tested by the accused.

The Billisinb reach of the right to a fair trail and undermines the presumption of innocence. The abrogation of this right stems from the very na ture of designation orders being made by the executive on a mere suspicion or belief of 'involvement in terrorism'. To ensure due process, the af fected person must be give n the right to representations in the eir defence, and the right for the matter to be adjudicated by the judiciary. Further, the right to full merits review should be provided for, not simply the limited recourse to judicial review.

5. Impacts on people designated: the right to freedom of movement, privacy and family life, and protection of property

The Supreme Court found that the 'draconian nature' of the asset-freezing or ders could 'hardly be overstated'. Lord Hope stated that '..designated persons are effectively prisoners of the state' and, 'their freedom of movement is severely restricted without access to funds or other economic resources an d the effect on both them and their f amilies can be devastating.'1

We have spoken wighth individuals who have family members subject to asset-freezing orders. They have ex perienced the asset-freezing regime as a cruel, disproportionate form of administrative puni shment. The regime inflicts a debilitating suffering not only on the person designated but also on their families and friends.

The re striction to a per rson's funds has subjected those on freezing orders to a life of extreme state intervention into daily life. The current Order regime and the Bill allo w designated individuals to have access to funds to meet 'basic expe nses'. A person is not entitled to access their own funds, but can obtain only basic expenses, and only if they have a Treasury license to do so. Basic expenses are not defined, and there is no definitive list or guidance provided to designated people. Instead the Treasury has insisted on a 'case-bycase' determination of what constitutes a basic expense. Consequently, people have sought constant p ermission from the Treasury to allay fears that they may be breaching the conditions of their license. The licensing system is an unjustifiable intrusion into people's lives—creating uncertainty, anxiety and another level of administrative punishment.

For some people on freezing orders, there is increased dependence on family members for food and basic supplies. Fo r example, according to one individual whom we consulted, a freezing order had devastat ing impacts—severe emotional psychological consequences on her entire family. Alisa's Uncle has been subject to a freezing order.² The family is terrified about providing anything other than a minimal amount of food and household items to their Uncle.

The Bill maintains a highly oppressive regi me by making it an offence to provide a 'significant fi nancial b enefit' to a desig nated person. This vague concept remains undefined and provides no guidance to families. In practice, families have been frightened to provide any amount of money or even support in kind such as the use of vehicles.

Ahmed and Others v HM Treasury [2010] UKSC 2 at para 11.

An alias has been used, identities altered and family experiences referred to in composite to protect anonymity.

The Bill all ows that public bene fits may be paid to non-d esignated family memb ers. However, the prohibition remains that a family member cannot provide any part of that payment amounting to a 'significant financial benefit' to the designated person. For example, i t is uncl ear wheth er a spouse who routinel y pays the enti rety of the rent/mortgage on the home, in the design ated person's name, contributes a 'significant financial benefit'. Fr eezing Ord ers have crea ted a nop pressive le vel o f an xiety an d uncertainty for entire families that they may be committing an offence.

Alisa's extended family has been subject to on-going harassment by intelligence services for several years. This has included multiple da wn raids on family members which hav e not resulted in charge or formal questioning; stop-and-search of vehicl es of family members without exp lanation; a nd intimid ating fami ly memb ers b y requesti ng tha t th ey not communicate to the public the nature of the authorities' interactions with them, nor to identify the agency invo lved. The harassment of Alisa's family has by no means be en experienced by them as a one-off event.

6. Punishment without trial to be extended?

In sum, the current powers of asset-freezing inflict punishment without trial, violating the basic rules of due process. Why is this happening? Not an isolated example, the above case points to a sy stemic practice designed to intimidate and punish. We have received anecdotal evidence that such impacts—harassment, povert y and mental trauma—are commonplace among those who have been designated.

Individuals and families are given no reasons for why they are under order. Nor do they have any viable prospect to challenge the orders. This contributes to a sustained emotional and physical state of siege, where the system provides every indication that the orders could continue indefinitely without real accountability. The families we consulted have justifiably lost any hope for pursuing justice in the UK legal system.

Moreover, in practice freezing orders in rolled persons from effect prohibit cont communicating with the public or the press about their persecutio n. This effect typifies dictatorships. It contributes nothing to the supposed aim of preventing terrorism. By silencing its victims, the state conceals its systematic punishment without trial under the pretext of 'anti-terror' powers . The extra asset-freezing po wers in the Bill would extend current injustices and so s hould be rejected. Instead the current regime should be held accountable for its injustices.

8 October 2010

4. Written Evidence from Mr Henry Miller, Birnberg Peirce & Partners, and Anne McMurdie, Public Law Solicitors, to the Committee, 12 October 2010

Call for Evidence—Terrorist Asset Freezing Bill

1. We have expertise in the legal issues a ssociated with terrorist a sset freezing. Birnberg Peirce & Partners an d Public Law Solicitors ha ve been instructed in all the princip le litigation which has considered the operation of the terrori st a sset freezi ng; i ncluding Ahmed & o thers v HM Tre asury [2010] UKS C2;, R (on the application of Y oussef) v HM

Treasury [2010] UKSC2; R (on the application of the M) v HM Trea sury [2008] UKHL 26; [2010] C/340/08. Birnberg Peirce and Public Law Solicit ors are currently instructed by individuals who are des ignated pursuant to the Terrorism (United Nations Measures) Order 2009, and who ar e listed by the United Natio ns Al Qa'ida and Taliban Financial Sanctions Committee (Pursuant to UNSCR 1267/1999).

2. We recognise that it is un usual for individual lawyers, rather than representative bodies, to respond to calls for evidence. However there is no repres entative group to provide a response on behalf of the individuals subject to the asset freezing regimes, and the individuals themselves are not able to respon d. We have expertise in both the legal issues and the impact on thos e subject to the regime and hope these submis sions will assist the committee in considering the proposed legislation.

Introduction

- 3. On 28 September 2001, as part of its response to 9/11, the UN Security Council decided that action was required to be taken against those who committed or attempted to commit terrorist acts or facilitated th eir commission. It adopted Unit ed Nations Security Council Resolution (UNSCR) 1373(2001). The preamble to this Resolution recognised the need for states to complement international co-operation by taking ad ditional measures to prevent and suppress, in their territories through all lawful means, the financing and preparation of any acts of terrorism. In paragraph 1 it was declared that the Security Council had decided that all States shall:
- a) Prevent and suppress the financing of terrorist acts;
- b) Criminalize the wil ful provision or collection ... of fund s by their nationals or in their territories with the intention that the funds should be used ... to carry out terrorist acts;
- c) Freeze without delay funds and other financial assets or economic resources of persons who commit, or attempt to commit, terrorist acts or participate in or facilitate the commission of terrorist acts; of entities owned or controlled ... by such persons; and of persons an d entities actin g on behalf of, or a t the di rection of su ch pe rsons an d entities...; [and]
- d) Prohibit their nationals or any persons and entities within their territories from making funds, f inancial ass ets or econ omic r esources o r fi nancial o r other related service s available ... for the benefit of persons who commit or attempt to commit or facilitate or participate in the commission of terrorist acts, of entities owned or controlled ... by such persons and of persons a nd entities acting on behalf of or at the direction of such persons.
- 4. Paragraph 2 declared that the Security Co uncil had decided that a ll States shall, among various other measures—
- a) "(d) Prevent those who finance, plan, facilitate or commit terrorist acts from using their respective territories for those purposes against other States or their citizens;
- b) (e) Ensure that any person who participates in the financing, planning, preparation or perpetration of terrorist acts or in supporting terrorist acts is brought to justice.... "

- 5. The UK Govern ment implemented these provisions by introducing an Order in Council: the Terrorism (United Nati ons Measures) Order 2001 ("T Ord er 2001"). These provisions, although still partly still in force, have been superseded by the T Order 200 6 and T Order 2009. Both subseq uent measures were also in troduced as well by Order i n Council. In oral submi ssions to the Supreme Court on 26th Januar y 2010, HM Treasury indicated that 25 persons remain designated pursuant to the 2001 Order, with 13 p ursuant to 2006 Order and a further 21 pursuant to the 2009 Order.
- 6. In Ahmed & Others [2010] UKSC 2 the Supreme Court qua shed the Terrori sm Order 2006. Only the 2006 Ord er was before the Court, however, the Court also indicated that had the 2009 Order been before it, it would have quashed this measure as well. The Court's reasoning would apply equally to the 2001 Order.
- 7. In quashing the T Order 20 06, the Supreme Court was keen to highlight that "[n]obody should form the impression that in quashing the TO ... the Court displaces the will of Parliament. On the cont rary, the Court's judgment vindic ates the primacy of Parliament, as opposed to the Executive, in determining in what circumstances fundamental rights may legitimately be restricted [para [157] per Lord Phillips]."
- 8. The Court made clear that given the opp ressive nature of the Order, if such legislation were required it had to be passed by an Act of Parliament and not the Executive. As the Court stressed, Parliament is sovereign and can interfere as it wishes with individual rights, but it must do so in clea r and unambiguous lang uage and be prepar ed to accept the political consequences. Lord Hope thus held:

"The consequences of the Orders that were made in this case are so dr astic and so oppressive that we must be just as alert to see that the coercive action that the Treasury have taken really is within the powers that the 1946 A ct has given them. Even in the face of the threat of international terrorism, the safety of the people is not the suprem e la w. We must be just as careful to guard against unrestrained encroachments on personal liberty" [para 6].

- 9. Foll owing the qua shing of the T Order emergency measures were introduced in the Terrorist Asset Freezi ng (Temporary Provisions) Act 2010 to maintain the a sset freezing regime enacted by the T Orders 2001, 2006 and 2009 until 31 December 2010.
- 10. The Gov ernment is now p roposing to in troduce the new Act to b ring into force an asset freezing regime in almost identical terms to the current temporary provisions.

The operation of T Order regimes

The principle features of the proposed asset freezing regime in the Bill (which are almost identical to the regime which has been in place since 2001) are:

- a) The measures are potentially indefinite.
- b) The designation is notified to the world at large
- c) There is no necessary connection between designation and suspicion of involvement in terrorist fundraising or financing.

- d) Once designated, it is a criminal offence, for any person to make funds (of any amount and with no de mi nimis level) and economic resources av ailable to the designated person and for the person so designated to deal with any funds what soever. This includes all payments to the designated person of welfare benefits and wages.
- e) Designated persons a re gra nted lic ences by the Trea sury to enable the em (and their families) to r eceive paymen ts for their daily li ving ex penses. The oper ation of the licences is such that designated persons must acco unt for all their expenditure, including the provisio n of receipts for daily transact ions such a s th eir househ old shopping. Literally ev ery penn y they s pend must be reported to the Trea sury and a receipt provided. Those receipts are then checked by the Treasury to make such every penny is accounted for. Failure to comply with licence conditions is a criminal offence.
- f) Information relied on by the Trea sury in making the decision to designate canbe withheld from the designated individual using Special Advocate procedures and the designated person may never fully know the case against them.
- g) There is no requirement to consider prosecution prior to making the designation.
- 12. The operation of these regimes, in the words of Sedley LJ (Court of Ap peal) effectively creates "Pr isoners of the State" . Lord Hope described these measur es as "drast ic" an d "oppressive". All economic act ivity, however sm all, is monitored by the Treasury. Lord Brown's judgment was that:
 - "the draconian nature of the regime imposed under these asset-freezing Orders can hardly be over-stated. Construe and apply them how one will ... they are scarcely less restrictive of the day to day life of those designated (and in some cases their families) than are control orders. In certain respects, indeed, they could be thought even more paralysing."
- 13. The result of designation is that individuals are not permit ted to any cash at all without a licence from the Treasury, so me are then permitted a ccess to £10 others are not permitted any cash at all. And every month the designated person must provide the Treasury with a receipt for everything spent down to a pint of milk or bar of chocolate.

Is the legislation necessary to implement UNSCR 1373/01?

- 14. The rationale behind introducing the measures is that it is necessary to do so for the UK to comply with its international treaty obligations in relation to UNSCR 1373/2001.
- 15. UNSCR 1373/01, unlike other UNSCR's, is a general exhortation calling UN member states to put in place measu res to pr event financing an d pr eparation o f any act s o f terrorism (as detailed at paragraph 1 above). Provided the UK has legislation dealing with the provisions identified by UNSCR 1373/01 it does not need further legislation to meet its obligations. There already exists a significant range of statutory measures to deal with the funding of terr orism, s uch that arguably the UK is alread y c ompliant with 1373/01. It would also be pertinent to consider how other countrie s have responded to UNSCR 1373/01. The Supreme Court in Ahmed considered legi slation in Canada, Australia and New Zealand. Consideration could be given to the way other countries, and in particular

other EU countries, have responded to UN SCR 1373 to exami ne whether they considered they needed further legislation.

16. UK measures already dealing with funding of terrorism and which remain in force and unaffected by the judgment in *Ahmed & others are*:

- The Terrorism Act 2000, ss14-19, criminalises the use of funds or other property for purposes connected to terr orism. An offence under this provision in punishable wit h up to 14 years in prison.
- The An ti-Terrorism, C rime and S ecurity Act 200 1 ("the AT CSA 2001"); AT CSA 2001 Part 2 ma kes provision for "freezing orders" to be imposed on terrorists and others. ACTSA 2001 p ermits "freezing orders" to be made if the Tr easury reasonably believes that "action constitue ting a threat to the life or p roperty of one or more nationals has been or is likely to be tak en by a p erson or perso ns" (s. 4(2)), and the person or persons referred to are resident outside the UK (s. 4(3)). Pursuant to s. 5, the effect of ma king a freezi ng order is that anyone i n the UK i s prohibited from maki ng funds available to a person who the Treasury reasonably believes has taken, or is likely to ta ke, a ction referred to i n s. 4, or a nyone the Trea sury reasonably believes has provided or is likely to provide assistance directly or indirectly to such a person. Such a freezing order lasts for two years (s.8) and the Treasury has a statutory obligation to keep the order under review (s.7). All the individuals designated pursuant to the TO 2006 and considered in the Ahmed litigation could, if the Treasury's suspicions about them were c orrect, have been subject to AT CSA freezing orders. No explanation was given as to why this power was not used.
- The ATCSA 2001, part 1—F orfeiture of Terrorist Cas h; Part 1 c onfers powers on police officers to freeze and ultimately seize cash which "(a) is intended to be used to be used for the purposes of terrorism; (b) consists of resources of an organization which is a proscribed organization, or (c) is, or represents, property obtained through terrorism." These powers are exercisable in relation to any c ash whether or not a ny proceedings have been brought for an offence in connection with the cash. An office r may seize this money where he or she has reasonable grounds to suspect that the money is terrorist cash, however, this is only during the period of investigation. Should an officer wish to apply for forfe iture of the cash, they must satisfy a court on the balance of probabilities that the money is terrorist cash.
- The Prevention of Terrorism Act 20 05 ("Control Orders"); The Secretary of State may make a control ord er against an individual if he—(a) has reasonabl e grounds for suspecting that the individual is or has been involved in terrorism-related activity; and (b) considers that it is necessary, for purp oses connected with protecting members of the public from a risk of terro rism, to make a control orde r imposing ob ligations on that individual.

Control order provide wide-ranging and flexible powers which can include restrictions on where so meone lives, restrictions in respect of their work or bus iness, control over their association and commun ication with others and control over their movements; and requirements in relation to premises searches, provision of information and reporting.

Proceeds of Crime Act 1998— this procedure operates in a similar way to that of the ATCSA forfeiture provi sions, in that an officer may seiz e and ul timately apply for forfeiture of property from the proceeds of c rime or which is intended to be used for unlawful conduct. The power arises in relation to any property including cash, whether or n ot an y pr oceedings have been br ought for an off ence in connection with the property. The court must be satisfied on the balance of probabilities before final forfeiture is ordered.

Indefinite duration of asset freeze

17. Clause 4 of the Bill pro vides that the design ation can be renewed annually for an indefinite period. This means that an individual can be subject to asset freezing measure and to the associated intrusiv e supervision indefinitely, with out ever being guilty of any criminal offence without the need to make ultimate finding about to the criminal standard about whether the subject of the sanction actually ever was or is involved in terrorism. It is notable that many of those subject to the provision of the T Orders were never charged with any criminal offence and in some cases were never interviewed by police in relation to the suspicions against them.

18. The Rep ort of the Unit ed Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the protection of hu man r ights an df undamental freedoms while co untering terroris m [A/HRC/12/22] 2 September 2009 examined the human rights implications of the asset freezing measures adopted by States to give effect to UNSCRs. The report states:

"The practice of listing and de-listing individuals and groups as t errorist and associated entities may seriously impact on a number of internationally protected human r ights, as in creasingly recognized by a numb er of r egional and n ational courts." [para 40]

19. In relation to concerns about the duration and indefinite nature of the ass et freeze which some states have introduced the report notes:

"Because individual listings are currently open-ended in duration, they may result in a temporary free ze of a ssets becoming permanent which, in turn, may amount to criminal punishment due to the severity of the sanction. This threatens to go well beyond the purpose of the United Nations to combat the terrorist threat posed by an individual case. In addi tion, there is no uniformity in relation to evidentiary standards and procedures. This poses serious human rights issues, as all punitive decisions should be either judicial or subject to judicial review." [para 42]

20. In the recent judg ment of the General Court in *Kadi –v – European Commission [T-*85/09] 30 September 2010, dealing with the lawfulness of the asset freeze imposed by European Council Regulation 881/2002 to give effect in European Law to UNSCR 1267 the Court expressed conc erns about the durati on of asset fr eezing measures, and, where such measures had such a marked an dlong lasting effect, whether the measure could still be classified as precautionary rather than as confiscatory. The Court's view was that:

"Such measures are particularly draconian for those who are subject to them. All the applicant's funds and other assets have been indefinitely fr ozen for nearly 10 years now and he cannot gain access to them without first obtaining an exemption from the Sanctions Committee. At paragraph 358 of its judgment in Kadi, the Court of Justice had already noted that the measure freezing his funds entailed a restriction of the exercise of the applicant's right to property that had to be classified as considerable, having regard to the general application of the measure and the fact that it had been applied to him since 20 October 2001. In Ahmed and Others (paragraphs 60 a nd 1 92), the UK Sup reme Court took the vie w that it was no exaggeration to say that persons designated in this way are effectively 'prisoners' of the State: their freedom of movement is severely restricted without access to their funds and the effect of the freeze on both them and their families can be devastating.

It might even be a sked whether—given that now nearly 10 years have passe d since the applicant's funds were or iginally frozen—it is not n ow time to call into question the finding of this Court, at paragraph 248 of its judgment in Kadi, and reiterated in substance by the Court of J ustice at paragraph 358 of its own j udgment in Kadi, according to which the freezing of funds is a temporary precautionary measure which, unlike confiscation, does not affect the very substance of the right of the persons concerned to proper ty in their financial assets but only the use thereof. The same is true of the statem ent of the Security Council, repeated on a number of occasions, in particular in Resolution 1822 (2008), that the measures in question 'are preventative in natur e and are n ot reliant upon criminal stan dards set out und er national la w'. In the scal e of a human life, 10 years in fact represent a su bstantial period of ti me and the question of the cla ssification of the m easures in question as preventative or punitive, protective or confiscatory, civil or criminal seems now to be an open one." [paras 149-150]

21. The in definite nature of the asset freeze call sinto question whether the measures a re genuinely preventative, rather than punitive, and whether they might amount to a de facto confiscation, in cir cumstances where there is no requirement to prove to the criminal standard that the assets in question were to be used for terr orist purposes, nor that there was any wrong-going by the subject of the asset freeze.

Publication of designation to the world at large

- 22. Clause 3 of the Bill proposes that when someone is designated the Tr easury must take steps to publicise this generally. This is a new and sign ificantly different provision from that contacted in the T Order 2006. Previously on designation the Treasury had a power to decide whether to no tify the world at large about a designation or whether only to notify certain people. This allowed the Treasury to take a calibrated and proportionate approach to notification, dependent on the circumstances of each individual and what was necessary in their case. Publication that someone has been designated on the basis that they are suspected of involv ement in terrori sm will have a seri ously detrim ental impact on their d family life. Thos e who access that reputation, their privacy an publicly available information will not necessarily be aware that nothing has been proven against the name d individual nor that the individual might strenuously deny the allegation. The damage and stigma of publication is likely to be significant.
- 23. Und er the T Ord er 2006 i n a numb er of ca ses t he Tr easury o nly noti fied fi nancial institutions and relev ant Go vernment departments (e.g. those paying benefits) that someone was designated, as these were the only steps necessary to implement and monitor

the a sset freeze and no further publication was necessary to achieve the stated aim of preventing terr orist f inancing. Wider pu blication of someon e's designation w as no t necessary and was therefore not proportionate or justifiable.

24. The new measure provides that in all cases a designation will be made public unless once of a number of limited exceptions applies, none of which permit consideration of the rights of the individual nor what is proportionate in that case. There is no obvious need for the Treasury to now be given wider powers to publicise a designation where the experience of the T Order is that the ai ms of the scheme can be met without it. Publication of an unproven allegation of involvement in terrorism to the world at large will have serious and possibly irremediable effects on those designated and their f amilies. This could lead to someone losing the eir job, their reputation and standing, their professional status, to harassment and vi lification. These c onsequences are aki n to the effect, a nd intention, of criminal pun ishment, and may on ly be jus tified where necessary and proportionate to achieve the aims of the ass et freezing scheme. A more lim ited publication scheme means that, where someone is ultimately found not to meet the criteria for listing or is shown not to be involved in terrorism, their designation can be revoked and they can resume their life without having unnecessary damage to their private, professional or family life.

25. It is likely that if the provisions are enacted as currently proposed they will be susceptible to legal challenge as violating Art 8 ECHR.

Requirement to consider prosecution

26. The draft legislation does not require that consideration be give n in advance of designation as to whether it is possible to prosecute the proposed designee under criminal provisions. In Control Orders (pursuan t to s8 Prevention of Terrori sm Act 2005), consideration must be gi ve as to whether there can be a prosecution. The decision not to prosecute may be justified on the basis that evidence cannot be disclosed openly to the designated person for reason s of national sec urity e.g. information is collected from telephone intercepts or from informants whose identities they do not wi sh to disclose for operational reasons).

27. There is no obvious reason why, as with Control Orders, consideration should not be given to prosecution pr ior to designat ion. When Control Orde rs were introduced Parliament r ecognised t hat a pplying su ch intrus ive measures against persons in circumstances where i nformation justifying the measures would be withheld from the controlled person, should be a measure of la st resort. Any move aw ay from prosec uting individuals (where, of co urse, they are told the case against them and are properly able to defend themselves a nd face the proper consequence if they are not) should only occur where absolutely necessary.

Necessity of link between designating individuals and allegations of fundraising

28. The proposed legislation is justified on the basis that it is required to give effect to those parts of UN SCR 1373/01 that seek to prevent the funding of terrorism. However, there is currently no re quirement that designation be applied to those who a re alleged to be involved in financing terrorism. Indeed, the only requirement the Treasury has to satisfy before applying these measures is that they reasonably believe that someone is, or has been, involved in terr orism and that such measures are necessary to protect the public from a risk of terrori sm. There is no necessary connection be tween financing terrorism and designating a person under the T Order and individuals can be designated where they are suspected of activity with no financial connection.

- 29. Once someone is designated all their funds are frozen, from whatever source. There is currently no necessary link between the funds frozen and the suspicion or risk that they might be intended for terrorist purposes.
- 30. To giv e effect to UN SCR 1373/01, and to use it a sthe justification for the legislation, there should be a legislat ive connection between design ating individuals and freezing funds, and terrorist financin g. Otherwise, the measures give the State po wer to monitor and regulate the lives of individuals where there is no indication that their funds or asstes might be used for terroris t purposes. That could not have been the purpose envisaged by the Security Council.

Asset freezing measures as another form of control order

- 31. The measures as they appeared in the T Order 2006 and as they are currently proposed, go much further than freezing the assets of terrorists. The proposed legislation applies a system of control directly to individuals suspected of terror ism. As Lord Brown noted in Ahmed, the regime is essentially another kind of control order in that it severely restricts almost every aspect of daily life for those designated and their families. The measures not only freeze all the curr ent assets of a designated individual but all their future assets and income. Designated persons are not permitted to receive any funds whatsoever (even those derived from entitlement to welfare ben efits) without permission and regulation from the Treasury. They cannot access cash (or only very small am ounts pursuant to a licen ce). All their financial and economic ac tivity, however mundane or domestic, and however small, is subject to supervision and control.
- 32. To date much of the operation of the regime has also proven to be highly uncertain and very diffic ult to apply in practice. Individuals are permitted by licences to spend their benefits only on "basic expenses." Numerous problems have arisen to determine whether, for example, a pair of trainers are a "basic expense" or whether an Oy ster Card is an "economic resources". A great deal of correspondence between the lawyers representing those designated and the Trea sury has been required to determine these k inds of daily issues. If the regime is essentially re-enacted, the same problems with no doubt arise.
- 33. Consideration might also be given to th e costs of ad ministering the regime, in particular the costs of publicly funded lawyers and Treasury employees dealing with all of the day-to-day problems that the regime throws up and Treasury employees scrutinising each month how individuals with very small incomes spend every penny of that income (as far a s we a re a ware the majority of those su bject to financial sa nctions receive state benefits). This has nothing to do with p reventing the funding of t errorism and ar ise because of the way in which the regime is structured, fo cusing as it does not on assets that it is suspected are to be used for terrorism but on every aspect of an individual's finances.
- 34. Given the significant legal and practical difficulties that have been generated by the control order regime and the ex tensive litigation which has resulted, careful thought is

required as to whether it is desirable to have yet another regime in circumstances where, as described above, other legislation already meets the obligations of UNSCR 1373.

12 October 2010

5. Written Evidence from the Equality and Human Rights Commission, to the Committee, 12 October 2010

Equality and Human Rights Commission submission to the Joint Committee on Human Rights

Legislative scrutiny priorities for 2010-11

Terrorist Asset-Freezing etc Bill

The Commission considers the Terrorist Asset-Freezing etc Bill, in its current form, is likely to fail to comply with the provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998. As such, the Commission considers there is a significant risk that the regime, if pas sed into legislation, could be subject to a successful challenge in the courts.

In particular, the Commission is concerned that the threshold for designating a person (Clause 2)—that of reasonable grounds for suspecting a person is or has b een involved in terrorist activity, is too widely drawn and in excess of that required by the United Nati ons (UN).

Although the Commission welcomes the inclusion of an appeal regime against designation (Clause 22), we consider the current proposals are unlikely to provide sufficient safeguards to enable the regime to be compliant with the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR).

The Commission recommends a review of the entire terrorist asset freezing regime, with a view to the introduction of one overall piece of legislation that is compliant with human rights standards.

Clause 2: Treasury's power to designate persons

Clause 2 provides that the Treasury may designate a person if there are reasonable grounds for suspecting that the person is or has been involved in terrorist activity and it is necessary for the purpose of protecting the public from terrorism to apply financial restrictions.

Commission's position

The Commission recognises the duty on governments to protect public safety and accepts that circumstances might arise where specific measures are required to add ress the threat to the public.

However, the Commission is concerned that the threshold for designating a person, that of reasonable grounds for suspecting a per son is or has been involved in terrorist activity, is too widely drawn and lower than that required by the UN.

In particular, the Commission considers the low threshold of proof for actions by the executive, and the lack of ad equate safeguards; including limited pr ovision for judicial review, mean the measures risk being found in breach of the ECHR.

Given the ser ious interference with peoples personal lives designation can cause, it is for the Governmen t to s how to thaat the p owers they seek are strictly necessary, and proportionate to the harm addressed.

Evidence

The test of reasonable suspicion that a person is or has been involved in terrorist activity is significantly lower than the standard required by UN re solution 1373, which only requires the freezing of funds of those who commit or attempt to commit acts of terrorism.

The impact of the terrori st asset freezing regime is significant, b oth on the individual concerned, and their family, including p artners and children. They have no a ccess to financial resources apar t from that allowed by the ex ecutive. This can severely restrict freedom of mov ement, ties wi th oth er f amily memb ers and fri ends, social life and employment opportunities.

In the Ahmed judgement, Lord Hope stated that:

"It is no exaggeration to s ay ... th at designated persons are effectively prisoners of the S tate Their freed om of mov ement is sev erely restricted with out a ccess to funds or other economic resources and the effect on both them and their families can be devastating"; and t hat the orders "strike at the very heart of the individual's basic right to live his own life as he chooses".1

Solution

In principle, terrorist asset freezing should only occur where a person has been convicted, or arrested then charged, with a terrorist offence. Only in exceptional circumstances should an order be available on the ba sis of rea sonable su spicion, as an interi m measure, to be reviewed, and for a fixed period, with a view to arrest or charge occurring.

The Commission recommends moving to a test of having been convicted of terrorism or attempted terrorism and related offences. Provision could be put in place for interim asset freezing for those arrested and charged pending conviction.

The Commission considers this would more closely reflect the UN criteria, and be more proportionate and more likely to be compliant with the Human Rights Act 1998.

The Commission would also suggest that an initial order to designate should be made by a judicial hearing, inter parties, rath er than a by a decision by the executive, with a provision for making ex parte applications to a judge in urgent cases.

Clause 22 and 23: Review of decisions by the court

Clause 22 provides for the inclusion of an appeal regime against designation.

Clause 23 al lows for the use of closed proceedings and special advocates in the review proceedings.

Commission's position

The Comm ission welc omes the inclusion of an appeal re gime aga inst des ignation. However, the Commission considers the appeal regime and the safeg uards in its current form inadequate, and unlikely to provide sufficient safeguards to enable the regime to be compliant with ECHR rights.

The Commission is concerned that there is no appeal procedure for those designated by virtue of being on the European Union (EU) Council list. The Commi ssion considers the lack of such an appeal pr ocedure is likely to breach Article 6 of the Convention². The Commission recommends the judicial procedure also applies to those designated by virtue of the EU list.

Clause 23 al lows for the use of closed proceedings and special advocates in the review proceedings. There are substantial concerns with the fairness of this procedure and the ability of applicants to effectively participate in the proceedings.

Evidence

The power to designate is made initially by the Treasury, rather than by a court, with only limited provision for re view. However this is only a limited form of review and provide d on the basis of the principle s of judicial review—i.e. whethe r a decision was reasonable, rather than a full review of the merits of the decision.

As the S upreme Court i dentified in Ahmed, seizure of terror ist assets en gages hu man rights, in particular the e right to peroperty under a rticle 1 of the fierst protocol of the European Convention, the right to private and family life under Article 8 and the right to a fair trial and access to the court under Article 6.

The use of special advocates in relation to control orders has been subject to concern, and litigation. The case of AF ³ confirmed the jurispr udence of the European Court of Human fair trial procedural guarant ees under Article 6 of the Rights that the substantive Convention required that the e person subject to a control order must have sufficie information about the allegations against them to be able to effectively instruct their special advocate.

Despite this judgement, the Joint Committee on Human Rights (JCHR) considered that the process "gives rise to a serious inequality of arms" an d "creates the risk of serious miscarriages of justice" 4 In particular, the JCHR drew attention to con tinuing difficulties despite the ruling in AF, including late disclosure of closed material to the special advocate, limitations on the ability of the special advocate to communicate with the control ee,

See Kadi, Kadi & Al Barakaat (joined cases C-402/05 P and C-415/05 P, Yassin Abdullah Kadi & Al Barakaat International Foundation v Council & Commission in which the ECJ considered lack of a proper review procedure rendered the listing in breach of fundamental rights of fair trail and effective judicial review.

Secretary of State for the Home Department v AF [2009]2 WLR 423

Human Rights Joint Committee - Ninth Report Counter-Terrorism Policy and Human Rights (Sixteenth Report): Annual Renewal of Control Orders Legislation 2010

limitations on the sp ecial advocates access to independent and expert evidence and limitations on the special advocates ability to effectively test the governments objections to disclosure of closed material.

Solution

The Commission would recommend that the initial designation of a person should by way of an inter parties application to the court, rather than a function of the executive.

The Commission notes that in re spect of individual s subject to asset freezing due to designation on the EU li st no such appeal applies. In effect, this means that once a person has been designated by the E Uthey have no means to appeal and have reviewed such designation.

In principle this cannot be correct, and we consider that application for the terror ist asset freezing regime to such individuals without acce ss to effective review is likely to breach Article 6 of the ECHR.

We recommend that designation of such individuals be subject to a similar judicial process as other non EU list individuals.

The Commission is aware that this Bill is only one of a number of statutory regimes in relation to terrori st assets. The Commission is also aware that there are outstanding cases and judg ements in rel ation to the h uman rights compliance of the UN and EU listing regimes⁵.

However, the Commi ssion recomm ends a review of the entire terr orist asset freezing regime, with a view to the introduction of one overall piece of legislation, compliant with human rights standards.

DNA database and fingerprints

The G overnment has proposed to introduce new legislation to restrict the scope of the DNA database and to give adde d protection to innocent peop le whose samples have been stored by a dopting the protections of the Scottish model for the DNA database. The proposals are most likely to feature in the forthcoming Freedom (Great Repeal) Bill.

The Commission welcomes this development in principle. It is more likely to lead to a system that is c ompatible with Article 8 of the E uropean Convention on Hu man Rights following the judgment in S and Marper v UK [2008].

However, the Commission would wish to see retained the provision under the Crime and Security Ac t 2010 that, if brought i nto force, would require all DN A samples to be destroyed once a profile has been obtained and in any event no later than 6 months.

Kadi supra, and A, K, M, Q & G v HM Treasury [2008] EWHA Civ 1187, now awaiting Supreme Court hearing, in relation to the UNSC regime,

In Scotland, unless someone is convicted of a crime, DNA samples and profiles can only be retained from those arrested for viol ent and sexual offences, and only then for 3 years with the prospect of 2 yearly renewals on police application to court.

This is far more p roportionate than the existing law in England and Wales, which allows for indefinite retention following arrest for any offence. It is also more proportionate than amendments pa ssed ea rlier this year (although not yet in force) under the Crime and Security Act 2010, which allows for retention for 6 years for adults.

The Commi ssion does not think that the current law or the framework for destroying DNA profiles under the Crime and Security Act 2010, fully address the European Court of Human Rights' (ECtHR) judgment and that the UK may still be in breach of Article 8.

The Commission has previously expressed concerns about the lack of independent review of decisions to retain DNA profiles in England and Wales, as has the Council of Europe's Committee of Ministers, which has responsibility for ensu ring implementation of ECtHR judgments. The Crime and S ecurity Act 2010 did not address this issue despite these concerns being raised prior to it being passed.

The House of Lord's Constitution Committee expr essed concern that the national DNA database was not subject to a single statute and recommended that the Government introduce legislation to reassess the length of time information was kept and to provide a regulatory framework for the database.⁶ The extent to which the Fr eedom Bill will address these concerns is yet to be determined.

Review of counter-terrorism and security powers

The Commission anticipates the findings and recommendations of the review of counterterrorism and security powers will feed into the proposed Freedom (Great Repeal) Bill. The Commission will provide the JCHR with a response to the Bill when it has been published. Until such time, the Commi ssion would like to sha re a sum mary of its response to this review.

The Commission welcomes the aims of the Government's review of counter-terrorism and security powers to ensure that such powers are necessary, effective and proportionate and meet the UK's international and domestic human rights obligations.

However, thee Commi ssion recommends there should be a fuller review of counterterrorism p owers a nd l egislation, to assess their complia nce with equa lity a nd h uman rights standards and legi slation, and their impact on good relations. Such a review could consider wh ether there is a need for consolidation of the current laws within a single counter-terrorism statute.

Control Orders

While the Commission recognis es the security ne eds to monito r certain individuals, the Commission questions wheether the control order regime should continue and

recommends that serious cons ideration is given to alternatives, incl uding the use of intercept evidence to enable prosecutions, and the use of surveillance.

Many of the conc erns around control or ders might be met if intercept evidence were available, enabling either better disclosure of the case against a controlee to occur, or preferably the usual course of the criminal law to tak e place with prosecution of those where there is evid ence of committed terrorist acts. If this were to occur, then it is likely there would be a reduced need for control orders.

The Commission awaits the ou tcome of the in quiry into intercept evidence, and calls on the Government to further consider this issue.

Another alternative to contro l orders is keeping individuals under enhanced surveillance. The Commission refers to the comments of the Joint Committee regarding the respective cost of surveillance to the control order regime.

It may be that keepin g individuals under inten se surveillance wou ld meet the security requirements curren tly met by control orders. Such sur veillance, if lawf ully exe cuted, would not require formal court proceedings or control orders, providing of course it was necessary and proportionate within Article 8 of the Convention.

The Commission requests that the review considers current and past control orders and security needs, and gives in tense consideration as to whether these could be met by enhanced surveillance, without the need for the control order regime.

Section 44 Stop and Search Powers

The C ommission wel comes t he a nnouncement by the Home S ecretary that g uidance would be issued to polic e removing the provisions for stop and sear chof an individual under s.44, and requiring s.44 stops of vehicles to be subject to reasonable suspicion.

As a basic tenet of civil liberties, and human rights law, the power to stop and search an individual should be based on re asonable suspicion. Any departure from the is principle must be based on the need to ad dress an immediate terrorist threat to a particular event or location and should be narrowly proscribed, in terms of duration, geographical extent, and based on specific information to that threat, location and timing.

The Commission's research into the effect of counter-terrorism powers however reflects concerns beyond the operation only of s.44 to wider concerns as to how general stop and search powers are used, and their affects on the individual and communities concerned.

The interim findings of the research appear to in dicate that fo r most Muslim s the most common experience of policing and policy relating to counter-terrorism when walking in streets of their neighbourhood's related to being st opped and searched by the police. Most Muslims in the di scussion g roups eith er had direc t exp erience of being stopped and searched, had close friends and family that had been or had witnessed the police carrying out stops in their local area.

Key objections related to the negative feeling that arose from percepti ons that individuals were being stopped because of their religion or race. This occurred particularly where

individuals had been sto pped several times in the course of the previous 12 months. The public visibility of stops in the street contributed to this negative feeling.

These c oncerns a re furth er sup ported by the Com mission's research i disproportionate use of stop a nd search against ethnic minority communities.⁷ The report found that a black person was at least six times more likely to be stopped and searched by the police in England and Wales as a white pers on, and an Asian around twice as likely to be stopped and searched as a white person.

The Commi ssion is concerned regarding the disproportionate use of stop and search powers generally, and is considering enforcement action against particular forces under the Race Equality Duty.

The Commission is also concerned regarding the use of stop and search powers at ports and airports under Schedule 7 of the Terrorism Act 2000. Und er this Act, stops, searches, questioning and detaining of a person for up to 9 h ours can occ ur without reasonable suspicion.

Amongst community and civil society organisations, there is concern also about the lack of knowledge and understanding of the rights in dividuals have when they are stopped at airports. Other concerns focus on the lack of adequate data on the numbers stopped and profile of those who were being stopped.

The Commission, in its submission to the Department of Transport on the Interim Code of Practic e for the use of body scanners at airports, has previously raised its concerns regarding the use of such powers at airports, and their disproportionate impact on certain communities.8

The UN Human Rights Committee also ex pressed its concern regard ing the use of stop and search, and in particular the use of racial profiling in the exercise of stop and search powers and its adverse impact on race relations. The Committee recommended review of the use of stop a nd search powers to ensure they were exercised in a non-discriminatory manner9.

The Commission is also concerned regarding the Government's proposals to "lessen the burden" of stop and search re cording. Recording of both stop and search, and stop and account, is crucial to ensuring proper use and accountability by the police of these powers.

The Commission calls on the Government to ensure that any change s to stop and search and stop and account recording continues proper and full recording of this information. The Commi ssion further urg es that training and other steps to ensure appropriate and proportionate use of stop and search is carried out.

Stop and Think; Equality and Human Rights Commission, 2010

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/consultation-responses/department-for-transportconsultation-code-of-practice-for-the-acceptable-use-of-advanced-imaging-technology-in-an-aviation-security-

CCPR concluding observations supra

Detention before charge

The Comm ission welc omes the statem ent given by the Home Secretary in the Government's recent renewal of the 28 day pre-tr ail detention provision, in particular her indication that she felt a period of 14 days pre-trial detention would be more appropriate.

The Commission would support a reduction to 14 days, and would re commend that this should remain subject to a nnual renewal by Parliament, and ass essment by the Crown Prosecution Services as to whether it continues to be necessary in light of the nature of the terrorist threat.

The Commission believes that long periods of pre-charge detention raise serious matters of principle and practice. As a matter of principle, extended periods of pre-charge detention are contrary to h uman rights and British constitutional histor y and values. St arting with the Magna Carta to the present laws, the individual has been granted and enjoys the following fundamental rights:

- i. Liberty
- ii. Protection against unlawful imprisonment
- iii. Presumption of innocence
- iv. The right to be told promptly of the reasons for arrest and charge
- v. Non-discrimination and equality

The Commission previous ly obtained counsel's advice on the legality of proposals to increase the maximum period of detention to 42 days. We were a dvised such proposal were likely to be unlawful in that they would breach Articles 5, 6, 14 and potentially 3 of the ECHR.¹⁰

While counsel's advice was obtain ed in relation to the propos al for 42 days, the principles apply to any extended period of pre charge detention.

Finally, the Commission also considers that the use in criminal proceedings of evidence gathered during extended periods of pre-charge detention may well engage Article 6 of the Convention (which sa feguards the right to a fai r trial, including the right to a public hearing before an inde pendent and impartial tribunal within r easonable t ime and t he presumption of innocence).

Cleary the lower the extended period of pre trail detention, the more likely it is that the measures will be necessary and proportionate, and the associated guarantees are sufficient to ensure compliance with the Convention.

If terrori sm matters were deal t with with the usual criminal process in usual circumstances there would be a ma ximum period of pre-trail de tention of 4 days. This is similar to el sewhere including in the US (2 da ys) Canada (1 d ay) and Germany, (2 days), while Spain allows detention of up to 5 days, and France 6 days. It would also be in

¹⁰ http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/parliamentary-briefings/crime-security-policing-and-counterterrorism-bill-briefings/counter-terrorism-bill-including-proposals-to-allow-detention-for-up-to-42-days/

accordance with the recommendations of L ord Lloyd in his 1996 inquiry into terrorist legislation.

Extension of the use of Deportations with Assurances

The prohibition against torture and inhuman or degrading treatment is absolute. Given the real and practical proble ms the UK has ha d in establishing Memorandum of Understandings (MOUs) with a s mall number of States, the Commiss ion is concerned regarding the possibility of attempts to expand the scheme.

Internationally, the UN Committee Against Torture has condemned the use of diplomatic assurances. In a recent case of Agiza v Sweden¹¹ and most recently the UK Court of Appeal has held that the MOU with Libya did not reduce the risks of torture to levels, which would not infringe article 3 of the European Convention on Human Rights (equivalent of article 7 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights).¹²

The Commi ssion is part icularly concerned regarding the adequacy of the hu man rights record, and commitments of States where MO Us are likely to be so ught; the ability an d adequacy of any monitoring regime subsequent to an individual's return, and the ability of the UK to ensure that States, and those within a St ate that are respons ible for holding an individual in detention abide by the terms of the MOU.

By way of example, the Commission refers to the evidence given in the recent case reviewing transfer of detain ees to the Nation al Dir ectorate of Security in Afghanistan under an MOU.¹³ The Commission reiterates the requirement that any MOU must reduce the risks of torture to such a level that will not infringe Arti cle 3 - the Court's undoubtedly will subject any future MOUs to scrutiny to ensure this.

Use of RIPA by local authorities and access to communications data generally

The Commission welcomes the current p roposals for reform of the use of powers under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 2000 by local authorities. In particular, the Commission considers that restricting the use of RIP A powers to serious offences is more likely to render such use proportionate.

Similarly, requiring prior judicial authoris ation by a magistrate, will provide greater independence and ov ersight, and improve article 8(2) compliance. However, the Commission considers there is a need for wider reform of RIPA, and privacy protections in general.

A key objective of such a revie w would be to simp lify the legislation, which is a comple x and unwieldy legislative regime and has been described as 'puzzling' and 'perplexing'. 14

The Commission has previously expressed its concern over this issue in its response to the Home Office consultation on the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) and the associated Codes of Practice.

¹¹ CAT/C/34/D/233/2003, 20 May 2005

¹² AS (Libya) v Secretary of State for the Home Department [2008] EWCA Civ 289

¹³ The Queen (on the application of Maya Evans) v. Secretary of State for Defence [2010] EWHC 1445 (Admin)

¹⁴ Lord Bingham in Attorney General's Reference (No 5 of 2002) [2004] UKHL 40 para 9

In that response the Commission noted:

- The basis for lawful surv eillance activity' should emphasise that the necessity for each RIPA surveillance power must be clearly and unambiguously established, and its scop e strictly confined to the requi rements of the investigatory aim it pursues. It would be helpful to set out clearly the requirements that must be satisfied before any interference with the right to privacy can be justified. That is, firstly it must be in accordance with the law, secondly it must pursue a n identified legitimate aim, 15 and thirdly it must be necessary and proportionate.
- The Commission notes the Chief Surveillance Commissioner has previously stated that there has been a "serious misunderstanding of the concept of proportionality".
- The Commission notes the comments of Baroness Neville Jones¹⁶ that RIPA powers for local authorities should be rest ricted to serious offences. Such restriction is more likely to render the use of RIPA powers proportionate within Article 8(2).
- The Commission considers the greater the independence of the bodies or of ficials that authorise and review the use of cover t methods, the g reater the likelihood that the regulatory regime will satisfy the requirements of Article 8(2).
- Judicial control afford s the best guarantee of independ ence, impartiality and a proper procedure, and the Commission would welcome proposals to place authorisation by magistrates.

The Commission has commissioned research into the protection of information privacy in the UK. The research will be published this autumn and will identify areas where privacy protection could be fur ther en hanced, and recommend consideration of further wider reforms in this area.

The Com mission notes in thi s context that research on p erceptions of human rights conducted by I psos Mo ri found that 63% of respondents were concerned about "respect for private and family life" and 43% of respondents listed it in their top five of Convention rights.17

The Commission also notes the concerns of the UN Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of huma n rights on issues of privacy and counter terrorism. 18 The Special Rapporteur in his report to the United Nations Human Rights Council highlighted the erosions of the right to privacy in the fight against terrorism and made recommendations to governments in order to improve the right to privacy in the fight against terrorism.

The Commission's rese arch on the impace tof counter-terrorism measures revealed concerns around the collection, dissemination and storage of data. In relation to stop s at ports and ai rports, some who hav e been stopped felt that the questions they were ask ed relating to their religious and political beliefs as well as the activities in communities was

¹⁵ Most of Art 8(2) is reflected in RIPA s.28(3) and s.29(3), except for interference allowed for 'the protection of morals, or for the protection of the rights and freedoms of others'.

¹⁶ Houseof Lords debate on RIPA order 2010; Hansard 23 February 2010

¹⁷ Public perceptions of human rights, Ipos Mori, June 2009,

¹⁸ Report of the Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms while countering terrorism A/HRC/13/37 28 December 2009.

being used to build up profiles of the m and to gather intellige nce in general about the community.

Measures to deal with organisations that promote hatred or violence

The Commission has a duty to work towards the elimination of prejudice against, hatred of and hostility towards members of groups protected by the equality legislation.

The Commission is concerned about the piecemeal manner in which the law on incitement to hatred is developing with differing tests. The Commission believes the Government should undertake a review of the incitement to hatred laws to ensure that it adequately and proportionately achieves the aim of limiting all form s of ha te speech, in accordance with protection of the right to freedom of expression and assembly.

At the time of the passing of the Criminal Justice and Immigration Act 2008, the Commission expressed its disappointment that the government did not consider it necessary to extend legi slation specifically to prohibit in citement to hatred on grounds of trans-status.

The then government pointed to a lack of evidence to supp ort its decision. However, we believe the government failed to appreciate that hate speech about homosexuality does not usually separate orientation from gender identity.

The Commission recognis es the very real harms that or ganisations or individuals that promote h atred or vi olence c an c ause. The Commission a lso r ecognises t he r ights t o freedom of speech and assembly under the European Convention on Human Rights, and their importance as the cornerstone of a democratic society.

While qualified, any limitation s to thes er ights must be necessary and proportionate. Interference with thes er ights can on ly be justi fied by "i mperative necessities" and exceptions must be interpreted narrowly.19

The Commi ssion notes the wide ra nging c ounter-terrorism legis lation that has al ready been pa ssed in relation to this is issue. This in cludes proscription and glorification of terrorism under the Terrorism Act 2000 and its am endment under the Terrorism Act 2006, as well as offences in relation to in citement of terrorism abroad and disseminating terrorist publications. There are also laws ensuring that public protests are peaceful.

12 October 2010

6. Letter from the Chair of the Joint Committee on Human Rights, to Lord Sassoon, Commercial Secretary, HM Treasury, 13 October 2010

Terrorist Asset-Freezing etc. Bill

The Joint Committee on Human Rights is considering the compatibility of the Terrorist Asset-Freezing Bill with the requirements of human rights law. I am grateful for the detailed h uman rights mem orandum your Departments ent to the Committee on 1 3

August 2010, settin g out in detail the Govern ment's consideration of the hu man rights issues relating to the Bill, and for your furth er letter dated 4 October ex plaining the reasoning b ehind the Government's amendments to the Bill in Committee. I a malso grateful to your off icials in the Bill team who recently made them selves available to meet with the Committee's Legal Adviser to discuss some of the significant human rights issues raised by the Bill.

The Comm ittee welc omes the Gov ernment's wil linguess to consider the human rights issues raised during the Bill's Second Reading debate and the Government amendments to the Bill designed to improve the balance between national security and human rights in the asset-freezing regime. Howev er, the Committee is still co nsidering the human rights compatibility of certain aspects of the Bill and I would be grateful if you could provide me with the answers to the following questions.

(1)The scale of the problem

Q1. How many designated persons are there currently? Please provide a breakdown of the f igures a ccording t o, fo r exa mple, whe ther the de signation followed c onviction, whether it followed arrest, whether the designated person is in the UK or abroad.

Q2. How many fresh designations have been made in each of the last two years?

(2) The breadth of the power

The Committee welcomes the raising of the legal threshold, from reas onable suspicion to reasonable be lief, as a hu man rights enhancing measure. However, I w ould app reciate some clarification of the implications of this change for the standard of proof to be applied when deciding whether to exercise the power.

Q3. Does the requirement of "reasonable belief" in clause 2(1)(a) of the Bill mean that the T reasury mu st be sati sfied th at the relevant fac ts exist "on the balanc e of probabilities", that is, to the civil standard of proof?

The second condition of the power, concerning the necessity of an asset-freeze, is also widely defined in terms of the Treasury's subjective consideration that financial restrictions are necessary "for purposes connected with protecting members of the public from terrorism". This is subjective and vague language which therefore widens the scope of the power.

Q4. Will the Government cons ider further limiting the breadth of the power by tightening the "necessity" condition in clause 2(1)(b), for example by requiring that the Treasury must "reasonably" consider that financial restrictions are necessary "for the purpose of protecting the public from terrorism"?

(3) The right of access to court

The Committee welcomes as a human rights enhancing measure the replacement of a right to seek judicial review by a full right of appeal ag ainst asset-freezes. I note, however, that this right of access to court still falls short of a requirement of prior judicial authorisation of asset-freezes.

Q5. Please explain in full the Government's justification for not requiring prior judicial authorisation of measures as draconian as final asset-freezes.

Q6. Please expla in the rationale for n of including in the right of a ppeal decisions to refuse, vary or revoke licences under clause 17 of the Bill.

(3) The right to a fair hearing

In Committee I note that when asked whether the Government accepts that the principles enunciated by the House of Lords in the case of AF apply to asset-freeze proceedings you replied that the Government does not necessarily accept the "read-across" from the control order context to the asset-freezing context.

Q7. Does the Government accept, in light of the decisions in Bank Mellat and Kadi, that the designated person must be given sufficient information about the all egations against him to enable him to give effective instructions in relation to those allegations?

Q8. If so, will the Government ensure that the rules of court which apply to asset-freeze proceedings expressly incorporate a duty on the Treasury to disc lose to the designated person, at the outset of those proceedings, sufficient information about the allegations against him to enable him to give effective instructions in relation to those allegations?

In Com mittee Lord Wallace emph asised that the "s tarting p oint" must be that the individual who is the subject of an asset-free ze must be given as much information as possible, subject only to the legitimate public interest concern such as the protection of national sec urity. Lo rd Wall ace al so said that the spec ial advoc ate system a nd the disclosure procedure is "designed to ensure that the maximum amount of material that can be disclosed to the individual without damaging the public interest should be disclosed."

As presently designed, however, the starting point of the legal framework is non-disclosure not fairness. The Civil Procedure Rules, for example, expressly subordinate the "overriding objective" of those rules (requiring cases to deal with cases justly) to the duty to ensure that information is not disclo sed contrary to the public interest (CPR r. 79 .2). The rules also impose an absolute prohibition on the open disclosure of materi al where the court considers that disclosure would be contrary to the public interest.

Q9. Will the Government consider amending the l egal f ramework to ensure that fairness, not non-disclosure, is the starting point, by, for example:

- Requiring the Treasury to include in the written notice of designation under clause 3(1)(a) of the Bill as much information about the re asons for designation as it is possible to give consistent with the public interest in non-disclosure;
- Revoking the CPR's subjection of the duty to deal with cases justly to the duty not to disclose information contrary to the public interest;
- Ensuring that re ferences in the rules of court to the duty not to di sclose information are qualified by reference to the right to a fair hearing; and

Providing in the rules of court for communication between special advocates and the designated person after sight of the closed material, with the permission of the judge, obtainable without notice to the Treasury?

(4) Parliamentary accountability

Q10. Why should the indepen dent reviewer of the operation of the asset-freezing regime not be appointed by Parliament and report directly to Parliament rather than the Treasury?

(5) Comprehensiveness of the statutory framework

Q11. Why has the opportunity not been tak en in this Bill to provide a comprehensive and accessible legal regi me for terrorist asset-freezing, which would enable Parliament to scrutinise the whole legal framework to ensure its compatibility with human rights.

I would be grateful if you could reply by 25 Oc tober 2010 and if an electronic copy of your reply, in Word, could be emailed to jchr@parliament.uk.

13 October 2010

List of Reports from the Committee during the current Parliament

Work of the Committee in 2009-10 First Report HL Paper 32/HC 459 **Second Report** Legislative Scrutiny: Identity Documents Bill HL Paper 36/HC 515 **Third Report** Legislative Scrutiny: Terrorist Asset-Freezing etc. HL Paper 41/HC 535 Bill (Preliminary Report)

List of Reports from the Committee during the last Session of Parliament

Session 2009-10

First Report	Any of our business? Human rights and the UK private sector	HL Paper 5/HC 64
Second Report	Work of the Committee in 2008-09	HL Paper 20/HC 185
Third Report	Legislative Scrutiny: Financial Services Bill and the Pre-Budget Report	HL Paper 184/HC 184
Fourth Report	Legislative Scrutiny: Constitutional Reform and Governance Bill; Video Recordings Bill	HL Paper 33/HC 249
Fifth Report	Legislative Scrutiny: Digital Economy Bill	HL Paper 44/HC 327
Sixth Report	Demonstrating Respect for Rights? Follow Up: Government Response to the Committee's Twenty- second Report of Session 2008-09	HL Paper 45/ HC 328
Seventh Report	Allegation of Contempt: Mr Trevor Phillips	HL Paper 56/HC 371
Eighth Report	Legislative Scrutiny: Children, Schools and Families Bill; Other Bills	HL Paper 57/HC 369
Ninth Report	Counter-Terrorism Policy and Human Rights (Sixteenth Report): Annual Renewal of Control Orders Legislation 2010	HL Paper 64/HC 395
Tenth Report	Children's Rights: Government Response to the Committee's Twenty-fifth Report of Session 2008– 09	HL Paper 65/HC 400
Eleventh Report	Any of our business? Government Response to the Committee's First Report of Session 2009–10	HL Paper 66/HC 401
Twelfth Report	Legislative Scrutiny: Crime and Security Bill; Personal Care at Home Bill; Children, Schools and Families Bill	HL Paper 67/HC 402
Thirteenth Report	Equality and Human Rights Commission	HL Paper 72/HC 183
Fourteenth Report	Legislative Scrutiny: Equality Bill (second report); Digital Economy Bill	HL Paper 73/HC 425

Fifteenth Report Enhancing Parliament's Role in Relation to Human HL Paper 85/HC 455

Rights Judgments

Counter-Terrorism Policy and Human Rights Sixteenth Report HL Paper 86/HC 111

(Seventeenth Report): Bringing Human Rights Back